EXPLORING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FAMILY-BASED WORK AND SELF-EFFICACY AMONG 15-YEAR-OLD ADOLESCENTS IN ETHIOPIA: EVIDENCE FROM THE YOUNG LIVES CHILDHOOD POVERTY STUDY

Katharina Räppold



Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree Master of Philosophy in Global Development Theory and Practice

Specialisation in Health Promotion

Autumn 2021

Department of Health Promotion and Development Faculty of Psychology University of Bergen

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to Helga Bjørnøy Urke who guided me through the process of writing this thesis. Thank you for your profound expertise, valuable advice, and great support. It really means a lot to me.

I also want to thank Gunilla Jansson and Sunniva Kvamsdal Sveen for their thoughtful feedback and words of affirmation. With the two of you it did not feel like I was thousands of kilometers away.

Finally, thank you to all the Young Lives children and families. This would not have been possible without you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	VI
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.1.1 Adolescent Health and Development	1
1.1.2 Adolescent Work	2
1.2 Study Area: Ethiopia	3
2. Conceptual Framework	
2.1 Positive Youth Development	
2.2 A Framework for Assessing Psychosocial Impacts of Work	
3. Literature Review	
3.1 Psychosocial Health Impacts of Work	
3.1.1 Economic Activity	
3.1.2 Non-Economic Activity	
3.2 Importance of Work Characteristics	
3.3 Importance of Ecological Factors	
3.3.1 Work and School	
3.3.2 Adolescent-Parent-Relationship	
3.4 Other Salient Factors Associated with Psychosocial Health	
3.5 Research Gaps	
4. Study Objectives and Research Questions	
5. Data and Methods	
5.1 Epistemological Foundation	
\mathcal{E}	
5.2.1 Young Lives Sampling	
5.2.2 Survey Instruments	
5.3 Study Sample	
5.4 Study Variables	
5.4.1 Dependent Variable	
5.4.2 Independent Variables	
5.4.3 Control Variables	
5.5 Data Management	
5.6 Data Analysis	
5.7 Quality Assurance	
5.7.1 Reliability and Validity	
5.7.2 Generalisability	
5.8 Ethical Considerations	22
6. Results	
6.1 Univariate Analyses	
6.2 Bivariate Analyses	
6.2.1 Pearson Product-Moment Correlations of Independent Variables and Self-Efficacy	
6.2.2 Independent Samples T-Test	
6.2.3 One-Way Between-Groups ANOVA	
6.3 Hirarchical Multiple Regression	
6.3.1 Evaluation of Assumptions	
6.3.2 Model 1 – Working Hours and Self-Efficacy	28
6.3.3 Model 2 – Working Hours, Hours Spent in School and Self-Efficacy	31
6.3.4 Model 3 – Working Hours, Hours Spent in School, Parent Relations and Self-Efficacy	
6.3.5 Model 4 – Hierarchical Multiple Regression Including Control Variables	
7. Discussion	
7.1 Work, School and Self-Efficacy Among Ethiopian Adolescents	
7.1.1 Time Spent Working and Time Spent in School	
7.1.2 Evaluation of Self-Efficacy Levels	
7.2 Evaluation of Research Questions	
7.2.1 Family-Based Work and its Association with Self-Efficacy	

7.2.2 The Impact of Hours Spent in School	36
7.2.3 The Impact of Parent Relations	
7.2.4 Factors Associated with Self-Efficacy in the Context of Work	38
7.2.5 Overall Reflection	.39
7.3 Methodological Limitations	
7.3.1 Study Design and Ommitted Variables	
7.3.2 Generalisability	
7.3.3 Social Desirability and Time Allocation Bias	
7.4 Contributions and Strengths of the Study	
8. Implications and Conclusion	
8.1 Implications for Research and Practice	
8.2 Conclusion	
References	
Appendices	VII
LIST OF TABLES	
Table 1 - Cronbach's alpha and mean inter-item correlations for the scale variables	22
Table 2 - Descriptive statistics of the dependent and independent variables	24
Table 3 - Pearson product-moment correlations between self-efficacy and independent variables	
Table 4 - T-test for self-efficacy scores between male and female adolescents	25
Table 5 - One-way between-groups ANOVA for self-efficacy depending on subjective health	26
Table 6 - Welch's F test results from one-way between-groups ANOVA for self-efficacy depending pride in work, and subjective household wealth	
Table 7 - Model Summary ^e of multiple regression between the independent variables, the control variables, and the dependent variable	29
Table 8 – Coefficients ^a of hierarchical multiple regression between the independent variables, the control variables, and the dependent variable	30
LIST OF APPENDICES	
Appendix A - Items included in psychosocial scales	VII
Appendix B - Frequencies of categorical variables	/III
Appendix C - Descriptive statistics of one-way-between-groups ANOVA for self-efficacy by categorical variable	∕III
Appendix D - Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients for total working hours, hours spent school, and parent relations	
Appendix E - Model Summary ^c of multiple regression between total working hours, hours spent in school, parent relations and self-efficacy while controlling for control variables	. IX
Appendix F – Coefficients ^a of hierarchical multiple regression between the independent variables ar self-efficacy after statistically controlling for sex, subjective health, pride in work, and subjective wealth	

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ANOVA - Analysis of variance

ILO - International Labour Organization

LMIC - Low- and middle-income country

MOE - Ministry of Education

PYD - Positive Youth Development

SPSS - Statistical Package for the Social Sciences

UNESCO - United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

UNICEF - United Nations Children's Fund

WHO - World Health Organization

ABSTRACT

Background — Adolescence marks a unique period in life where psychosocial skills are developed that are understood to positively affect the individuals' mental health and contribute to success in later life. Self-efficacy is a key psychosocial skill that describes the individuals' belief of their capability to exercise control over their life. While family-based work (economic and non-economic activity performed for and within the family) often is an integral part to maturing into adulthood in low- and middle-income countries, its impact on psychosocial skills is under-researched.

Objective – The objective of this study was to explore the relationship between family-based work and its duration, and general self-efficacy among 15-year-old adolescents in Ethiopia. To gain a more comprehensive understanding of the relationship, an ecological approach was adopted. While a variety of ecological factors are worth considering, this study assessed the influence of time spent at school and the adolescent-parent-relationship as additional independent variables.

Data and Methods – The study utilized secondary data from Round 5 (2016-2017) of Young Lives' longitudinal study of childhood poverty conducted in Ethiopia. The sample comprised of 1620 adolescents who were approximately 15 years old at the time of the data collection. Hierarchical multiple regression was used to firstly, determine which independent variables help explain the dependent variable, and secondly identify the positive or negative relationship and magnitude of an association between independent and dependent variables.

Results – In adjusted linear regression models a small, but negative and statistically significant association between working hours and self-efficacy was observed. Time spent at school was found to slightly amplify the negative impacts of family-based working hours on adolescents' self-efficacy levels. In contrast, the parent-adolescent-relationship attenuated the negative impact.

Discussion and Conclusion – The study results indicate that family-based working hours do not impact largely on Ethiopian adolescents' belief about their capabilities to shape their destiny. Further, the results lend support to researchers arguing working and attending school simultaneously are competitive in terms of psychosocial development. Moreover, the results substantiate findings from previous literature that assign the family a vital role in forming adolescents' self-efficacy beliefs. Further quantitative and qualitative research may expand on the findings of this study and thereby contribute to the design of policy interventions that are respectful to adolescents' agency and translate meaningfully to their work.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND

1.1.1 ADOLESCENT HEALTH AND DEVELOPMENT

Ensuring health and promoting well-being is goal number three of the 17 Sustainable Development Goals outlined in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (United Nations, 2015). This goal was recognised much earlier as reflected for example in the Ottawa Charter stating health to be a key resource to everyday life, in that it supports personal and social development and enables human beings to exercise control over their own health (World Health Organization, 1986). The foundations for health and well-being throughout the life-course are often laid during adolescence¹ (Klasen & Crombag, 2013; Patton et al., 2016; Sawyer et al., 2012). It is the time were identities and future aspirations (Cunnien et al., 2009), as well as health practices are developed that continue into adulthood (Brindis et al., 2004). Although the period is recognised as crucial for development, adolescents are often neglected in health promotion research and global health policy (Erskine et al., 2017; Hayes et al., 2021; Patton et al., 2016). This becomes particularly clear examining research on adolescent mental health in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) – as of 2013, only about a tenth of the worldwide mental health research was carried out in LMIC, of which less than 1% addressed child and adolescent mental health problems (Klasen & Crombag, 2013). In Sub-Saharan Africa adolescents make up nearly one fourth of the population (23%) (UNICEF, 2019). Recognising and understanding factors that enable and promote good health among this large population group is vital to ensure they can reach their full potential. Policies for prevention and early intervention strategies should be designed accordingly to serve the needs of adolescents (Hayes et al., 2021).

More frequently, psychosocial skills, also referred to as non-cognitive skills, have been recognised to play an important role in protecting from adverse health and enabling success in later life (Kautz et al., 2014; Yorke & Portela, 2018). They can be loosely defined as «personality traits, goals, character, motivation, and preferences that are valued in the labour

¹ As suggested by the World Health Organization (WHO), this study defines individuals aged 10-19 as adolescents (WHO, n.d). Children are defined as anyone under the age of 18, as stated in the Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989). Consequently, adolescents are encompassed in the definition of children. This thesis uses the terms child and children when referring to literature or policies that do not further define the studied age group. Otherwise, the term adolescent is used as it is more exact in referring to a specific age group.

market, in school, and in many other domains» (Kautz et al., 2014, p. 7). Psychosocial skill development has its onset in the early years of life but remains crucial during adolescence. The formation is highly shaped by adolescents' environments, specifically the family (Kautz et al., 2014), and mediated by cultural beliefs and values (Woodhead, 2004). While these influences are recognised as important to the development of psychosocial skills, further research is needed to investigate in more detail how psychosocial skills are formed (Krishnan & Krutikova, 2010).

One key psychosocial skill is self-efficacy, a concept which refers to the individual's perception of their ability to effectively exercise control over their own functioning and other events that affect their life (Bandura, 1994; Schwarzer & Jerusalem, 1995). In other words, self-efficacy is a mechanism of human agency shaped by the belief in one's ability to succeed (Dercon & Singh, 2013; Lippman et al., 2014; Yorke & Portela, 2018). To illustrate, adolescents with high self-efficacy approach a difficult task or situation with confidence and consequently are more likely to succeed in solving it, while low levels of self-efficacy can restrict problem solving (Bandura, 2004; Burrus & Brenneman, 2016; Yorke & Portela, 2018). Thus, self-efficacy is a vital skill especially to those who are likely to face many challenges, adverse situations, and setbacks throughout their life course.

1.1.2 ADOLESCENT WORK

An important but controversial feature of adolescents living in LMICs, both in contemporary research and global policy discourse, is their occupational status. In 1999 the International Labour Organization (ILO) set forth a convention to ban «work which, by its nature or the circumstances in which it is carried out, is likely to harm the health, safety or morals of children» (Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention No. 182, 1999, Article 3d) to ensure work does not deprive children of their childhood, their potential and their dignity or interfere with their education (ILO, 2019). This definition gave rise to the term *child labour*, which has been used ever since to refer to harmful and hazardous work. According to Woodhead (2004), the main obstacle to the ILO definition is the cultural relativism it encompasses. What is harmful to a child's development and what is not is subject to cultural interpretation (Libório & Ungar, 2010). Therefore, this thesis deliberately employs the more neutral concept of *work* to avoid a prejudgement of activities as necessarily detrimental to health (Sturrock & Hodes, 2016).

While a comprehensive discussion about whether work is permissible or not is beyond the scope of this thesis, the opposing positions related to psychosocial health impacts of work should nevertheless be mentioned briefly: Commonly, work is understood as a «menace in a child's development, with risk of psychosocial difficulties» (Fekadu et al., 2006, p. 958).

Among working children and adolescents, multiple studies have reported an increased prevalence of emotional and behavioural disorders such as depression, anxiety, and low self-esteem (Feeny et al., 2021; Fekadu et al., 2006; Hesketh et al., 2012; Kiran et al., 2007; Trinh, 2020). These adverse psychosocial health impacts are primarily associated with economic work. In opposition to that, other researchers have found that particularly non-economic activities such as household chores and caring for family members are positively associated with adolescents' psychosocial health (Feeny et al., 2021; Libório & Ungar, 2010; Pankhurst et al., 2015; Trinh, 2020), as they contribute to learning practical and social skills as well as responsibility (Aufseeser et al., 2018; Boyden et al., 2016; Morrow & Boyden, 2018). An additional important factor that is believed to affect psychosocial health impacts of different types of work is the number of hours spent on the respective activity. It is assumed that excessive working hours, despite whether carried out in economic or non-economic activity, are detrimental to the psychosocial health of children (Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention No. 182, 1999).

However, psychosocial health impacts are not solely determined by the type of work activity and its duration. Instead, healthy development in the context of work is shaped by a multitude of contextual factors, including competing or complementary activities, parent, peer and employer relations, or subjective meaning attached to work, among others (Lerner et al., 2005; Thomas & Joseph, 2013; Woodhead, 2004). Such factors are understood to either amplify or attenuate the impacts on psychosocial health. To exemplify, in a context where work is valued and the adolescent is faced with respect and reasonable expectations, performing vehicle repair might result in an increased sense of autonomy and responsibility. In contrast, the same work activity could have adverse psychosocial health effects in a context where school is valued more than work, but the adolescent is unable to attend or perform well in school because of the economic obligation to support the family. Consequently, to avoid generalised conclusions, assessments of psychosocial health impacts of work should be embedded in an ecological approach, facilitating a more comprehensive understanding of the complex relationship.

1.2 STUDY AREA: ETHIOPIA

The country of interest for this thesis is Ethiopia, located in the Horn of Africa, and home to approximately 115 million people (World Population Review, 2021). In Ethiopia, one in four is an adolescent, representing the second largest adolescent population in Africa (Performance Monitoring for Action, 2017; Yaya et al., 2021). Thus, exploring and understanding factors that contribute to their psychosocial health is crucial to inform future health promotion research and

policy interventions to ensure adolescents can reach their full developmental potential as they mature into adulthood.

The latest study on the general prevalence of mental disorders among 5-15-year-old Ethiopian adolescents revealed a prevalence of 3.5% (Ashenafi et al., 2001). Among working adolescents, this number seems to be a lot higher. Two studies conducted among working adolescents in Ethiopia in 2006 report prevalence rates of mental disorders of 4.9% (Alem et al., 2006), and up to 20.1% (Fekadu et al., 2006). These empirical findings reinforce Ethiopian national policy guidelines where focus is put on the protection of young people from exploitative practices and hazardous work that is harmful to their education and well-being – also known as child labour (Constitution of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, 1995, Article 36). The minimum age for employment was recently raised from 14 to 15 years (Global People Strategist, 2021). In addition, adolescents (14-18 years) should not work for more than seven hours a day (Ethiopian Labour Proclamation No. 42, 1993, Section 90).

Despite the rigid legal framework, a national survey on child labour conducted in 2015 suggests that 85.5% of children between the ages of 5-17 are engaged in some form of work, including paid and unpaid activity of economic and non-economic nature (Central Statistical Agency of Ethiopia, 2018). To be more precise, the majority of all working children work within the family unit (Central Statistical Agency of Ethiopia, 2018; ILO, 2017). Typical tasks performed for and within the family include household chores such as cooking and cleaning or caring for family members including younger siblings (Central Statistical Agency of Ethiopia, 2018). In addition, agricultural work on the family farm is of great importance, specifically in Sub-Saharan Africa (ILO & UNICEF, 2021). Throughout the thesis, the term family-based work is used to refer to those types of work that contribute to the functioning and subsistence of the family.

Even though a majority of children engage in family-based work, the psychosocial health impacts have not yet been adequately researched. It is essential, however, to understand the origins of good psychosocial health, given that it can avert adverse mental health and facilitate success in later life (Kautz et al., 2014; Klasen & Crombag, 2013). Therefore, this thesis seeks to explore the relationship between family-based work and general self-efficacy among 15-year-old adolescents in Ethiopia. By pursuing an ecological approach, the study aspires to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the complex relationship. To address the study objectives, secondary data from Young Lives, a longitudinal study on childhood poverty, is utilised.

This thesis is organised into eight chapters. In chapter 2, the conceptual framework is outlined, followed by a synthesis of the most relevant literature on the topic in chapter 3. Derived from the identified gaps in the literature, chapter 4 presents the study objectives and research questions to be addressed in this study. The employed research methods and ethical considerations are described in chapter 5, before the results of the analysis are presented in chapter 6. Chapter 7 offers a discussion of the results in the context of the relevant literature and conceptual framework, while also examining limitations and strengths. Finally, chapter 8 discusses policy implications and concludes based on the central results.

2. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

There is no common approach to assessing the psychosocial impacts of adolescent work (Ibrahim et al., 2019; Kuimi et al., 2018; Sturrock & Hodes, 2016). However, in 2004, Martin Woodhead (2004) published a framework for research on psychosocial impacts of child work that has become influential in the field (Al-Gamal et al., 2013; Hesketh et al., 2012; ILO, 2014; Trinh, 2020). Hence, this framework was deemed appropriate to inform the empirical analysis and guide the discussion of results of this thesis. Woodhead's (2004) framework and the concept of self-efficacy can be placed within the overall theoretical field of Positive Youth Development (PYD), which is introduced in the following section before presenting the framework's key components relevant to this study.

2.1 POSITIVE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT

Positive Youth Development is a comprehensive interdisciplinary approach that is organised around the principle of promoting «youth access to positive experiences, resources and opportunities, and [promotion] of developmental outcomes useful to both self and society» (Benson et al., 2007, p. 895). Within these promotion efforts, the individual is thought of as an active shaper of positive development. To achieve positive developmental outcomes, the capacities and strengths of the individual need to «optimally interact with the resources for healthy development in the ecological system of the adolescent» (Thomas & Joseph, 2013, p. 117). In line with this statement, Lerner et al. (2005) further elaborates that psychosocial development can be understood as a consequence of «mutually influential relationships between the developing person and his or her biology, psychological characteristics, family, community, culture, physical and designed ecology, and historical niche» (p.11). Consequently, the complex systems in which adolescents experience development need to be acknowledged and carefully examined.

2.2 A FRAMEWORK FOR ASSESSING PSYCHOSOCIAL IMPACTS OF WORK

As part of a joint research project by ILO, World Bank, and UNICEF, Woodhead (2004) developed "Psychosocial impacts of child work: a framework for research, monitoring and intervention". Essentially, the framework offers a guide for:

assessing the multiple ways that work can impact (both positively and negatively) on children's well-being; and for identifying psychosocial indicators of impact. The paper draws attention to ways that the context of children's work mediates how far potential hazards constitute a risk (Woodhead, 2004, p. 321).

Positioned within the PYD perspective, Woodhead (2004) ascribes young people an active role, and thus recognises children's agency in relation to their work. More importantly, he repeatedly emphasises the importance of the ecological system surrounding the working child. Before presenting the key contextual influences set forth by Woodhead (2004) and applying them to this study, the following paragraph outlines his definition of psychosocial well-being and extends it to include the definition of self-efficacy coined by Albert Bandura.

Woodhead (2004) classifies psychosocial well-being into five broad domains: sense of personal agency, cognitive abilities, social competence, personal identity, and emotional and somatic expressions of well-being. The concept of self-efficacy is considered as part of the domain "sense of personal agency". According to Woodhead (2004), "agency is about how far an individual is able to shape their destiny versus being shaped by external forces outside their control" (p. 355). The concept of personal agency employed by Woodhead (2004) closely relates to the concept of self-efficacy that was coined by Albert Bandura (1977) as part of his Social Cognitive Theory. Bandura (1994) describes self-efficacy as "people's beliefs about their capabilities to produce designated levels of performance that exercise influence over events that affect their lives" (p. 71). An individual with high self-efficacy approaches a difficult task or challenge convinced of their capabilities and consequently realises a favourable outcome which reinforces a strong sense of self-efficacy (Bandura, 2004). In other words, the effects of self-efficacy are understood to be reciprocal. Both the concept of personal agency and the concept of self-efficacy allow for an outlook on children's work that is in line with the PYD perspective, emphasising the active role of children in creating meaning and contributing to social life.

According to Woodhead (2004), work does not impact on psychosocial health in a vacuum. Consequently, an assessment of the effects of work on dimensions of psychosocial health, including self-efficacy, need to take the complexity and interplay of the children's activities (e.g., type of work and schooling), their environment (e.g., relationship to parents)

and the social context (e.g., value attached to work) into account. From Woodhead's (2004) understanding, the context in which work occurs «may be as important as the work itself in determining how far the impacts are beneficial or harmful» (Woodhead, 2004, p. 334). He points out that assessing a specific type of work activity without considering the circumstances in which it takes place is of limited value. Therefore, Woodhead (2004) identifies seven major influences that are likely to be present in a child's ecological system and, at length, discusses the extent to which they can be protective of or have adverse consequences for psychosocial health of working children. The influences under analysis for this study are schooling and adolescent-parent-relations (Woodhead, 2004). According to Woodhead (2004), a contextual factor like schooling can either amplify or attenuate the psychosocial impact of work. He argues that having to work in a context where attending school is the norm can feel degrading. Feeling an economic obligation to work in order to support the family, while at the same time experiencing pressure to perform well in school, too, can adversely impact on children's psychosocial health. On the other hand, well-balanced school and work attendance can feel empowering, with positive school experiences potentially buffering negative work impacts. Similarly, the effects of the adolescent-parent-relationship can be two-fold, especially in a setting where the family constitutes the work environment. While the family normally is a source of security, unreasonable parental expectations in terms of work contributions can have adverse effects (Woodhead, 2004). Moreover, the family is a closed-off space, where abuse and exploitation are even less visible than in official employment. In contrast, the support and encouragement of family members, specifically the parents, can avert adverse psychosocial health impacts of work.

To reiterate, the aim of this study is to shed light on the relationship between family-based work and self-efficacy among adolescents in Ethiopia. However, in considering the ecological principle set forth by Woodhead (2004), the study moves beyond the mere exploration of the psychosocial impacts of a specific work activity and additionally takes schooling and the adolescent-parent-relationship into account. For the purpose of this study, both of these ecological factors are of great importance given that young people in Ethiopia attend school in addition to their work (Central Statistical Agency of Ethiopia, 2018) and because the family constitutes the work environment. Considering schooling and adolescent-parent-relations guards against overly simplistic conclusions and allows for a more holistic understanding of the relationship between family-based work and self-efficacy among Ethiopian adolescents.

3. LITERATURE REVIEW

The purpose of the literature review was to review and synthesise the most significant academic articles published on the relationship between adolescent work and psychosocial health, and to map out research gaps. To find relevant literature, the academic databases PsycInfo, Web of Science and PubMed were searched using terms such as 'adolescence', 'youth', 'child labour', 'child work', 'family work', 'schooling', 'health', 'psychosocial skills', 'self-efficacy' and 'Ethiopia'. Peer-reviewed articles as well as findings from the grey literature were considered, there was no limitation on the year of publication. Manual checks of the reference lists of useful sources completed the search strategy.

3.1 PSYCHOSOCIAL HEALTH IMPACTS OF WORK

As pointed out in the Introduction (chapter 1) children most commonly perform work for and within the family (ILO & UNICEF, 2021). However, the majority of studies found during the literature search employ a different classification of work, where assessments of psychosocial health impacts are frequently distinguished by economic and non-economic work activities, a classification that was adopted for the subsequent sections of the literature review. The differences in operationalisation of work activities and its implications for this study will be addressed in detail in the discussion (chapter 7). Independent of the type of activity studied, the discourse remains fragmented, with a relatively equal proportion of articles highlighting psychosocial health risks and those pointing out the psychosocial benefits of work.

3.1.1 ECONOMIC ACTIVITY

A number of studies indicate that compared to non-working children, children and adolescents performing economic activity are more prone to behavioural and emotional problems, indicating adverse psychosocial health (Feeny et al., 2021; Fekadu et al., 2006; Hesketh et al., 2012; Kiran et al., 2007; Trinh, 2020). For instance, in their study among 12-18 year-old adolescents in India, Feeny et al. (2021) document a negative association between economic work and self-efficacy, with working adolescents reporting significantly lower self-efficacy levels. Similarly, a study examining the mental health impacts of child labour in Vietnam finds that the psychosocial health of 7-9-year-old working children is significantly lower when compared to their non-working peers (Trinh, 2020). However, child labour is only vaguely defined (as any paid or unpaid activity apart from household chores), limiting the studies' ability to attribute the identified negative psychosocial effect to a specific economic activity. In contrast, Hesketh et al. (2012) focus their research on a single activity, namely domestic work

for other households, which is widely understood to bear a higher risk of exploitation and abuse due to its isolated nature (ILO & UNICEF, 2021; Woodhead, 2004). Among the studied 12-18-year-old adolescents, domestic workers report psychosocial disorders more frequently than non-working schooled adolescents. However, the study of Hesketh et al. (2012) also comes with a limitation, as it does not employ a validated instrument to assess psychosocial well-being, but a questionnaire developed by the researchers, making a comparison to other studies difficult. Lastly, a psychiatric prevalence study among working and non-working 5-15-year-old Ethiopians finds emotional and behavioural disorders to be more common among exclusively working children than their non-working schooled peers (Fekadu et al., 2006).

Even though the presented findings confirm a negative association between economic work and psychosocial health, the evidence on the relationship is not entirely conclusive. To exemplify, Alem et al. (2006) carried out a prevalence study in Ethiopia with study characteristics similar to those of Fekadu et al. (2006). Both studies were carried out in the same year, in a similar study area, among children of much the same age who engage in comparable activities, and still find contradicting results. In contrast to Fekadu et al. (2006), Alem et al. (2006) report emotional and behavioural disorders to be more common among non-working schoolchildren when compared to children who engage in economic activity. The researchers suggest that a lower prevalence of disorders among working children compared to non-working children could be explained by the healthy-worker effect, where children of good health are more likely to be retained in the work force and children with illness join the non-working population (Alem et al., 2006). Although this might explain the higher prevalence in mental and behavioural disorders among non-working children, it cannot explain the conflicting findings of the two studies. Other studies further underline this discrepancy in empirical evidence. Findings from Jordan (Al-Gamal et al., 2013) and Brazil (Benvegnú et al., 2005) also reveal psychosocial problems to be more common among non-working children than their working peers, suggesting that work in fact is not detrimental but might be protective against mental and behavioural problems. In contrast, de Baessa (2008) and Nuwayhid et al. (2005) find no significant difference in psychosocial well-being across groups of working and nonworking children.

3.1.2 NON-ECONOMIC ACTIVITY

The empirical evidence on non-economic activities is less contradicting than that on economic activity. Generally, household chores such as cooking, cleaning, and shopping or looking after family members are thought to benefit the psychosocial health of children (Feeny et al., 2021;

Libório & Ungar, 2010; Pankhurst et al., 2015; Trinh, 2020). For instance, Trinh (2020) finds household chores to be positively associated with psychosocial health among 7-9-year-old children in Vietnam, but reports mixed results for India. The researcher reasons that by equipping children with more skills and fostering a sense of self-worth, household chores can improve psychosocial health. Similarly, Feeny et al. (2021) report that there is no indication that household chores lead to lower levels of self-efficacy, if anything, activities such as caring for other household members are likely to result in higher levels of emotional well-being. Next to promoting skills and a sense of self-worth or even autonomy (Libório & Ungar, 2010), a positive association between non-economic activity and psychosocial health could also be explained as follows: «Household chores inside the home are potentially performed in reasonably safe conditions or under adult supervision. Conversely, work outside the home is potentially more hazardous due to surrounding conditions and lack of supervision» (Feeny et al., 2021, p. 891). In contrast to the previously presented literature on psychosocial impacts of economic activity, the family work environment is repeatedly emphasised as potentially protective against psychosocial harm (Libório & Ungar, 2010; Pankhurst et al., 2015). Section 3.3.2 draws a more nuanced picture of the family as the work environment, with specific focus on the adolescent-parent-relationship.

3.2 IMPORTANCE OF WORK CHARACTERISTICS

A majority of studies introduced in the previous section assess psychosocial health impacts merely through the presence or absence of work in children's and adolescent's lives. A growing body of research, however, suggests that the operationalisation of work must go beyond such a dichotomous categorisation (ILO, 2014; Woodhead, 2004). In previous studies, inter alia, the relationship with the employer (Nuwayhid et al., 2005), the safety of the physical work environment (Lewendon et al., 2001), or the age of entry into the work force (Benvegnú et al., 2005) were found to be important work characteristics associated with psychosocial health. In addition, authors repeatedly place emphasis on work duration (Al-Gamal et al., 2013; Caglayan et al., 2010; Dinku et al., 2019; Hesketh et al., 2012; Kiran et al., 2007; Nuwayhid et al., 2005; Orkin, 2012). It is assumed that excessive work, despite whether it is of economic or non-economic nature, is hazardous and thus detrimental to the psychosocial health of children (Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention No. 182, 1999). Supportive of this assumption, a study suggests long working hours of more than 10 hours per day to negatively affect psychosocial health (Hesketh et al., 2012). However, the direct association between long working hours and psychosocial health is only seldom assessed. Instead, the effects of excessive

work are commonly studied in terms of children's general time allocation. For instance, long working hours have been found to impede school attendance (Lyon et al., 2013; Steinberg & Dornbusch, 1991) and obstruct sufficient sleep (Caglayan et al., 2010); factors which could negatively affect psychosocial health.

3.3 IMPORTANCE OF ECOLOGICAL FACTORS

As aforementioned, adolescents' ecology plays an important role in understanding and assessing psychosocial impacts of work. The following two sections will discuss empirical evidence on the two influences, schooling, and adolescent-parent-relations, that were introduced as part of the conceptual framework in chapter 2.

3.3.1 WORK AND SCHOOL

It is dominant policy consensus that children and adolescents under the age of 18 should not work but attend school (Minimum Age Convention No. 138, 1973). This consensus is based on the conviction that schooling and finishing compulsory education is crucial to psychosocial development of a child (UNESCO, 2016). While the positive effects of schooling on psychosocial health are relatively undisputed, the debate around the impact of child and adolescent work on schooling remains fragmented. Combining work and schooling is often understood to be competitive, leading to inconsistent school attendance (Pal et al., 2011; Pankhurst et al., 2015; Ray & Lancaster, 2005), low educational achievement (Orkin, 2013; Woldehanna & Gebremedhin, 2015) or even school drop-out (Tafere & Pankhurst, 2015b). In other words, «working may make it impossible, or more difficult, for children to attend school, or prevent them from benefiting fully from it» (Orkin, 2012, p. 1). This presumption is supported by a study carried out among 6-16-year-olds in Jordan that compares levels of coping efficacy across exclusively working children, working schoolchildren, and non-working schoolchildren (Al-Gamal et al., 2013). The results show that working schoolchildren had the lowest coping efficacy levels when compared to exclusively working and exclusively schooled children. Consequently, it does seem as though combining work with school is competitive, putting children at risk for adverse psychosocial health. At the same time, Orkin (2012) has argued that work and schooling can be complementary when each activity is carried out at different times of the day, enabling children to benefit from both activities in terms of psychosocial skill development. This is underlined by Hesketh et al. (2012) who report school attendance to be highly beneficial for positive psychosocial outcomes among adolescent domestic workers in India and the Philippines. Complementary work and schooling could be

achieved through school shift systems where children attend school in the morning and perform work in the afternoon or vice versa (Admassie, 2003). Tafere & Pankhurst (2015b) highlight the importance of flexible school systems in contexts where work is the norm rather than the exception (see also Orkin, 2012). In a similar vein, Boyden (2016) argues that for the majority of children in low- and middle-income countries «the choice is not between school and work but rather how much time and effort should be given to each activity» (p. 11).

3.3.2 ADOLESCENT-PARENT-RELATIONSHIP

Previously, in the section on psychosocial impacts of non-economic activity, the importance of the family work environment has been pointed out. Specifically, the adolescent-parentrelationship can have substantial implications for the direction and magnitude of psychosocial health impacts (Hesketh et al., 2012; Pankhurst et al., 2015; Woodhead, 2004). In fact, Maciel et al. (2013) find that the family functioning is more significant to the prediction of children's psychosocial health than their working status. As aforementioned, it is widely assumed that the family offers safe working conditions (Feeny et al., 2021; Pankhurst et al., 2015), while working for an employer might expose children to undesirable role models and adverse habits (Nuwayhid et al., 2005). At the same time, the ILO and UNICEF (2021) warn that family-based work is frequently hazardous. Following on from this, Woodhead (2004) elaborates that when family-based work becomes excessive, exploitative or abusive «family-based child-workers may be at even greater risk than children working outside their families» (p.345) because the family is the main source of social support and children psychologically depend on their parents. Pankhurst et al. (2015) illuminate some of the risks and benefits of family-based work in their qualitative study of working children in Ethiopia. For instance, children report they never refuse to work because they fear punishment and do not want to strain the relationship with their parents, while others describe family-based work as an opportunity to actively contribute to the benefit of the family. In connection to the latter, Libório and Ungar (2010) theorise that child contributions can improve psychosocial health by enhancing resilience, sense of autonomy and coping capacity.

3.4 OTHER SALIENT FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH PSYCHOSOCIAL HEALTH

Besides work, schooling and adolescent-parent-relations, the above-mentioned studies discuss additional, mainly socio-demographic, factors in the context of work and psychosocial health.

This chapter introduces, in a very condensed form, a selection of these recurring factors and their potential effects.

Sex

Assessments of psychosocial health impacts of work in the context of gender is relevant as gender can impact on the type of work activity performed, with boys engaging more frequently in economic activities such as agricultural work and girls more likely to perform domestic work for other families or household chores within their own home (ILO & UNICEF, 2021). Given that economic activities are more frequently associated with adverse psychosocial health compared to non-economic activities, this could result in gendered differences in psychosocial impacts. This is exemplified by Trinh (2020) who studies the relationship between economic work and mental health in the context of gender. He finds that while females report reduced psychosocial problems in India, the psychosocial health of their male counterparts is negatively affected by economic activity. In contrast, the study of Benvegnú et al. (2005) observes more psychosocial problems among working girls than working boys, while other articles suggest no difference between working males and females in regard to prevalence of psychosocial health problems (Alem et al., 2006; Maciel et al., 2013).

Health

Overall, good physical and mental health is thought to buffer effects of psychosocial adversity. For instance, better physical health, as measured by the BMI index, is associated with less psychosocial health problems among 7-9-year-old working children in Vietnam (Trinh, 2020). Based on this result, it could be assumed that good health makes children less vulnerable to specific tasks or longer working hours. In line with these findings, Hesketh et al. (2012) find general poor health to be negatively associated with psychosocial health among adolescents in India and the Philippines.

Socioeconomic status

The socioeconomic status of a family, often measured as household or family income, is thought to be an important determinant of whether children work (Beegle et al., 2009; Tafere & Pankhurst, 2015b). Especially in times of economic hardship, children and adolescents become important contributors to the family subsistence (Boyden et al., 2016). Taking on such a

responsibility could arguably increase coping capacity (Libório & Ungar, 2010). At the same time, involuntarily performed work that is entirely at the discretion of the socioeconomic status of the family could inflict on the child's psychosocial health. Evidence from studies that take family income into account suggests the latter. Benvegnú et al. (2005) find an inverse association between family income and psychosocial health of working children. Further, Maciel et al. (2013) find children who report higher psychosocial health problems to come from households with lower income.

Value attached to work

Woodhead (2004) highlights on multiple occasions the importance of subjective meaning children attach to their work: «When children feel their work is a normal thing to do, that they are doing something valued by their families, and they are treated fairly, these feelings can serve as a coping mechanism that helps their resilience» (p. 367) (see also African Child Policy Forum, 2014; Cunnien et al., 2009). More generally, Trinh (2020) argues that socially and culturally accepted child work can lead to better psychosocial health.

3.5 RESEARCH GAPS

Within the body of research that is concerned with psychosocial health impacts of work there is a clear imbalance. The majority of studies measure impacts of economic work activity, while very few studies shed light on the association between non-economic work activity and psychosocial health, and even fewer studies discuss family-based work. Particularly the scarcity of articles on family-based work is surprising, given children most commonly perform work for and within the family (ILO & UNICEF, 2021). In addition, self-efficacy has so far only sparsely been explored in relation to adolescent work.

While a majority of articles suggest economic activity to be detrimental to the psychosocial health of children and adolescents, research on psychosocial impacts of non-economic activity indicates the opposite. However, the literature review shows that not only do different types of activity have a unique influence on psychosocial health, but that the extent of the impact is shaped by an additional factor, namely work duration. In addition, the adolescent-parent-relationship and schooling seem to play a role in the relationship of work and psychosocial health. But again, there is ambiguity in the evidence as to when both factors are beneficial or detrimental to psychosocial health. Thus, it becomes clear that no general assumptions about the relationship between work and psychosocial health can be made.

Within this field of research there are many avenues for future exploration; one of which is the assessment of activity- and context-specific psychosocial impacts of work. No study could be found that addresses the relationship between family-based work and its duration, and self-efficacy. In order to address this gap in the existing literature, objectives and research questions were formulated as outlined in the next chapter.

4. STUDY OBJECTIVES AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS

The objective of this study is to explore the relationship between family-based work and general self-efficacy among 15-year-old adolescents in Ethiopia, using secondary data from Young Lives. The study adopts a positive youth development perspective that views adolescents as active shapers of own positive development. The study further pursues an ecological approach that takes into account the importance of the context and the environment in which adolescents perform work activities. In doing so, the study aspires to create a more holistic understanding of the psychosocial impacts of adolescent work in the country-context of Ethiopia and thus contribute to the growing literature that is concerned with the mental health of working adolescents in low-and middle-income countries. Exploring the relationship between family-based work and self-efficacy can have important implications for policy and future research.

To address the relationship between family-based work and self-efficacy in more detail, several specific research questions will be answered:

- 1. To what extent is the number of hours spent on family-based work associated with general self-efficacy levels among 15-year-old adolescents in Ethiopia?
- 2. To what extent does the relationship between number of working hours and general self-efficacy levels change when taking hours spent in school and parent relations into account?
- 3. Are number or working hours, hours spent in school, and parent relations still able to predict a significant amount of variance in general self-efficacy levels after differences among adolescents in sex, subjective health, subjective household wealth, and pride in work have been statistically accounted for?

5. DATA AND METHODS

5.1 EPISTEMOLOGICAL FOUNDATION

It is important to recognise that the research design of this study «rests on a foundation of ontological and epistemological assumptions» (Neumann, 2014, p. 91). The study is inspired by the post-positivist paradigm, which can be considered a version of the traditional positivist approach to research. Post-positivism stems from the ontological idea that reality can be observed directly by the researcher (Neumann, 2014) and that truth is independent of the observer (Aliyu et al., 2014). Both positivism and post-positivism are frequently associated with quantitative methods (Punch, 2014).

5.2 THE YOUNG LIVES PROJECT

The current study analysed secondary data using Young Lives longitudinal study of childhood poverty conducted in Ethiopia between 2002 and 2016/17. The Young Lives project traces the lives of approximately 12,000 children in four developing countries, including Ethiopia. The children are divided into two age groups, a 'Younger cohort' born in 2001-2002 and an 'Older cohort' born in 1994-1995. Young Lives combines data collection on child, household and community level with school surveys to gather information on health and livelihoods as well as educational experiences (Rossiter et al., 2017).

5.2.1 YOUNG LIVES SAMPLING

Before the first survey round conducted in 2002, 20 sites were purposively selected (in five regions: Addis Ababa, Amhara, Oromia, Nationalities and People's Region (SNNP) and Tigray). A site obtained through purposive sampling «is deemed to represent a certain type of population, and is expected to show typical trends affecting those people or areas» (Young Lives, 2018, p. 2). The purposive sampling of Young Lives further ensures a reflection of the country's cultural and geographic diversity, but with a pro-poor bias (Rossiter et al., 2017). 100 young children (between six and 18 months) and 50 older children (between 7.5 and 8.5 years of age) were randomly selected in each of the 20 sites (Young Lives, 2018).

5.2.2 SURVEY INSTRUMENTS

The child, household, and community questionnaires are updated for each survey round and include, next to the core questions, relevant country specific sections (Young Lives, n.d.-a). The child questionnaire gathers data on daily activities of the child, experience with work and

school as well as attitudes and feelings. The household data includes information on household composition and expenditures, livelihoods, and access to basic services (Young Lives, n.d.-a). In addition, school surveys were conducted assessing student's learning levels through cognitive tests in English and Math.

5.3 STUDY SAMPLE

Round 5 of the Young Lives survey was conducted in the period of 2016-2017. At this point in time the younger cohort was approximately 15 years of age, the older cohort approximately 22 years of age. Since the aim of this thesis is to shed light on the relationship between engagement in work and psychosocial health of adolescents, only respondents from the younger cohort were included (*N*=1812). A sub-sample was drawn based on the following two criteria:

- 1. The adolescent reported being currently enrolled in school.
- 2. The adolescent had undertaken some form of paid or unpaid work activity within the last twelve months.

The final sample included 1620 adolescents: 863 males (51.6%) and 784 females (48.4%). See section 6.1 for a detailed univariate analysis of the sample.

5.4 STUDY VARIABLES

5.4.1 DEPENDENT VARIABLE

Self-efficacy

Young Lives first measured psychosocial skills in Round 2 and Round 3. After a thorough review and adaption procedure, psychosocial scales, including the self-efficacy scale, were administered to both cohorts in Round 4 and Round 5 (Yorke & Portela, 2018). The Young Lives general self-efficacy scale (based on Schwarzer and Jerusalem (1995)) intends to measure «the strength of an individual's belief in his or her own ability to respond to novel or difficult situations and to deal with any associated obstacles or setbacks» (Schwarzer & Jerusalem, 1995, p. 35).

Perceived general self-efficacy was assessed through ten items measured on a Likert scale ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 4 = strongly agree. Based on the ten items a scale variable for total self-efficacy was created, ranging from 10 (lowest self-efficacy) to 40 (highest self-efficacy). The statements, inter alia, include: I can usually handle whatever comes my way

and I am confident that I could deal efficiently with unexpected events. See Appendix A for all scale items. Total general self-efficacy was treated as a continuous variable.

5.4.2 INDEPENDENT VARIABLES

Number of hours spent on family-based work

The main independent variable of this study is a continuous count variable computed from the number of hours spent on non-economic and economic activities within the family. The study participants were asked how much time they spent on the following non-economic activities during a typical day (not a weekend or holiday): care for others (younger children, ill household members) and domestic tasks (fetching water, firewood, cleaning, cooking, washing, shopping). In addition, study participants were asked how much time they spent on the following economic activities during a typical day (not a weekend or holiday): tasks on family farm, cattle herding, other family business, sheepherding (not just farming). The time for all activities was recorded in hours. Hereinafter, this variable is referred to as working hours.

Number of hours spent in school

The second independent variable is a continuous variable. All study participants were asked how much time they spent in school (including travelling) during a typical day (not a weekend or holiday). The time was recorded in hours.

Parent relations

The third independent variable is a continuous variable assessed through eight items measured on a Likert scale ranging from I = strongly disagree to 4 = strongly agree. Out of the eight items a scale variable for total parent relations was created, ranging from 8 (lowest parent relation) to 32 (highest parent relation). An example of a statement measuring parent relations is: I like my parents. See Appendix A for all scale items.

5.4.3 CONTROL VARIABLES

<u>Sex</u> is a dichotomous variable coded 0 = Male and 1 = Female.

Subjective health is a self-reported variable captured by the question: In general, would you say your health is very poor, poor, average, good or very good? The item was measured on a Likert scale coded 1 =very poor, 2 = poor, 3 = average, 4 = good, 5 = very good.

<u>Subjective household wealth</u> was measured with the question: Which of the following best describes your household?, with the following response categories: I = very rich, 2 = rich, 3 = comfortable, 4 = struggle to get by, 5 = poor, and 6 = destitute.

<u>Pride in work</u> was captured by the statement I am proud of the work I have to do and was measured on a Likert scale ranging from I = strongly disagree to S = strongly agree.

5.5 DATA MANAGEMENT

Before conducting any analyses, the data was screened for missing data and errors such as out of range values. All data with the values not known (77), not applicable (88), missing (99), and refused to answer (79) were coded to missing. All analyses excluded cases pairwise with no replacement for missing data. In addition, all variables were inspected for normality and outliers classified as extreme by SPSS (marked by an asterisk). For the univariate and bivariate analyses, none of the extreme outliers had to be removed or their values changed since they did not have a strong influence on the mean of the respective variable (Pallant, 2020). Before conducting the multiple regression analysis, several outliers were removed (for detailed assumption checking see section 6.3.1).

Due to small numbers of observations, some categorical variables were collapsed into fewer categories. Originally, there were five categories for the subjective health variable which were recoded into four (1: very poor or poor, 2: average, 3: good, 4: very good). Subjective household wealth was also recoded into four categories (1: very rich or rich, 2: comfortable, 3: struggle to get by, 4: poor or destitute). Similarly, the categories for pride in work were changed. For this analysis, the variable was recoded into four categories, combining strongly disagree and disagree into one category (1: strongly disagree or disagree, 2: more or less, 3: agree, 4: strongly agree).

5.6 DATA ANALYSIS

IBM SPSS Statistics version 26 was used to assess the relationship between the number of hours spent on family-based work and self-efficacy levels among a sample of 15-year-old adolescents in Ethiopia. The following statistical analyses were performed:

- (1) Descriptive statistics were obtained for all variables and presented using standard statistical parameters such as frequencies, percentages, means and standard deviations.
- (2) Bivariate analyses were performed between the dependent variable and the independent variables using Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficient.
- (3) Bivariate analyses were further performed between the dependent variable and all control variables using independent samples t-test (dichotomous variable), and one-way between-groups ANOVA (categorial variables).
- (4) Hierarchical multiple regression was used to assess the relationship between working hours, time spent in school, and parent relations, and levels of self-efficacy in the adolescent sample. Furthermore, hierarchical multiple regression enabled controlling for the influence of the identified control variables.

According to Tinsley et al. (2000), there are two common approaches to multiple regression – prediction and explanation. The former focuses on practical applications, while the latter «tries to explain the relations between variables and emphasizes understanding the phenomena of interest» (Tinsley et al., 2000, p. 153). In explanatory modelling, multiple regression firstly determines which independent variables help explain the dependent variable, and secondly identifies the positive or negative direction of a relationship and magnitude of association between independent and dependent variables.

Hierarchical multiple regression allows to enter independent variables in an order specified by the researcher (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). By entering one independent variable after the other, each can be assessed in terms of its contribution to the model. For this study, the order of entry of variables was determined by the conceptual considerations presented in chapter 2. The regression analysis consisted of four models, each of which was evaluated with regard to their explanatory power, as well as magnitude and direction of the model coefficients. Since it is not the goal of this study to identify a model that has greatest explanatory power with the fewest number of variables, the principle of parsimony was neglected. All results were reported, including variables that did not reach statistical significance. For Model 1, self-

efficacy was regressed on working hours. For Model 2, self-efficacy was regressed on working hours (block 1) and hours spent in school (block 2). Model 3 consisted of working hours (block 1), hours spent in school (block 2), and parent relations (block 3). Lastly, for Model 4, self-efficacy was regressed on all control variables (simultaneously entered in block 1), followed by the three independent variables (simultaneously entered in block 2).

The outlined method of analysis describes a cross-sectional study design and hence is of observational and descriptive nature. While such a design does not allow for causality to be inferred, it helps to explore associations between variables in the study sample.

5.7 QUALITY ASSURANCE

5.7.1 RELIABILITY AND VALIDITY

Reliability tests to ensure internal consistency and unidimensionality of the self-efficacy and parent relations scale have previously been performed by Yorke and Portela (2018) using Cronbach's alpha and inter-item correlation. A Cronbach's alpha value of .7 or above indicates acceptable internal consistency, however, values of .8 and above are preferable (Pallant, 2020). For the younger cohort, Cronbach's alpha values of .80 and .82 were obtained for the self-efficacy and parent relations scale respectively, indicating all items measure the same construct (Yorke & Portela, 2018). For scales with ten or less items it can be useful to additionally report the mean inter-item correlation since these commonly produce lower Cronbach alpha values (Pallant, 2020). According to Pallant (2020) the optimal range for the mean inter-item correlation is between .2 and .4. For the younger cohort, Yorke and Portela (2018) obtained mean inter-item correlation values of .29 for the self-efficacy scale and .36 for the parent relations scale, suggesting reliability of both scales. Table 1 shows reliability testing of the scales for the sub-sample used in this study after cleaning each item of errors. The obtained values for the current study differ only slightly from those of Yorke and Portela (2018) which is likely due to the difference in the sample.

A previous assessment of the validity of the scale through multi-group confirmatory factor analysis showed unidimensionality with all items contributing to one factor (Yorke & Portela, 2018). Furthermore, an assessment of the Schwarzer and Jerusalem (1995) general self-efficacy scale across 25 countries confirmed the reliability and unidimensionality of the scale (Scholz et al., 2002). Because the validity of the self-efficacy scale has been assessed by Yorke and Portela (2018) using the same participants from the same country, the decision was made to not perform additional factor analysis.

Table 1 - Cronbach's alpha and mean inter-item correlations for the scale variables

Scale	Items	Curr	rent study	Yorke &	Portela (2018)
		Cronbach's	Mean Inter-	Cronbach's	Mean Inter-
		α	item Correlation	α	item Correlation
Self-efficacy	10	.77	.25	.80	.29
Parent relations	8	.74	.26	.82	.36

5.7.2 GENERALISABILITY

Due to the previously described purposive sampling method, Young Lives data from Ethiopia faces limitations in terms of its generalisability. While the data is not nationally representative, potential biases resulting from the pro-poor sampling strategy have been addressed through tests comparing the Young Lives sample to larger, nationally representative samples (Young Lives, 2017). It was concluded that the Young Lives sample reflects the diversity of adolescents in the country in terms of ethnicity, language, religion, and other social norms (Boyden et al., 2016; Outes-Leon & Sanchez, 2008; Young Lives, 2018). Despite the data not being nationally representative, the size and high quality of the Young Lives pro-poor sample allows to make robust conclusions about this part of the population (Young Lives, 2017). As such, the pro-poor sampling technique represents a methodological strength.

5.8 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

This study utilised secondary data from Young Lives for which ethical approval was granted by the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine ethics committee through careful checking against ethical standards. In addition, Young Lives received approval from the College of Health Sciences in Ethiopia before each pilot and data collection round. Young Lives further follows ethical guidance of the Department of International Development (University of Oxford), the Association of Social Anthropologists of the Commonwealth and the Save the Children Child Protection Policy (Young Lives, n.d.-b).

One pivotal ethical criterion to the data collection process is informed consent. Young Lives ensured all study participants are informed about the study purpose and subsequently obtained voluntary consent at each round of data collection from all parents and caregivers and children who have the capacity to consent (Morrow, 2013).

In addition, there are ethical considerations for secondary data users. First and foremost, permission needs to be obtained to utilise the data (if permission is not implicitly granted

through open access). To ensure permission, a project request was sent to the UK Data Service which was approved on 19 March 2021. Before asking for permission, the relevance and adequacy of the data for the proposed research question was thoroughly assessed. In addition, anonymity is vital in the data collection process as well as in the use of secondary data. To ensure confidentiality and protection of the study participants, Young Lives data contains no identifying information.

6. RESULTS

The results chapter presents the results from univariate, bivariate, and hierarchical multiple regression analysis. The univariate analyses firstly report frequencies of all categorical variables utilised in this study, followed by mean statistics and standard deviations of all continuous variables. Subsequently, the results from bivariate analyses are presented, starting with correlations of all independent variables with the dependent variable. In addition, a t-test for the dichotomous variable, and analysis of variance for all categorical variables are provided, with self-efficacy as the dependent variable. Lastly, the results of the hierarchical multiple regression models are reported, including assumption checking.

6.1 UNIVARIATE ANALYSES

Descriptive analyses of all variables were conducted to provide an overview of the data (N = 1620). The full descriptive statistics for all categorical variables can be found in Appendix B. The study sample consisted of 836 male adolescents (51.6%) and 784 (48.4%) female adolescents. The majority of adolescents reported good (n = 700, 43.2%) and very good health (n = 691, 42.7%). When asked about their household wealth, most adolescents responded that comfortable best described their household (n = 987, 60.9%). This was followed by 350 (21.6%) adolescents who said they struggle to get by. Only 10.7% (n = 174) reported their household to be very rich or rich, 6.6% (n = 107) described it as poor or destitute, missing n = 2 (0.1%). Of the 1620 adolescents in the sample, 1349 (83.3%) reported taking pride in their work (agree or strongly agree).

Table 2 provides descriptive statistics for all dependent and independent variables. In the study sample, total self-efficacy scores among the adolescents ranged from 18 to 40 with a mean of 30.47 (SD = 3.23). The number of hours spent on family-based work ranged from 0 to 10 hours, with a mean of 4.08 (SD = 1.90). In the sample, the number of hours adolescents spent

in school ranged from 0 to 11 hours, with a mean of 5.80 (SD = 1.15). Parent relations had a range from 11 to 32 with a mean of 26.23 (SD = 2.77).

Table 2 - Descriptive statistics of the dependent and independent variables

							Skewness		Kurto	osis
	n	Missing	Min	Max	Mean	Std. Deviation	Statistic	Std. Error	Statistic	Std. Error
Self-efficacy	1600	20	18	40	30.47	3.23	07	.06	1.37	.12
Working hours	1620	0	0	10	4.08	1.90	04	.06	67	.12
Hours in school	1620	0	0	11	5.80	1.15	.52	.06	1.86	.12
Parent relations	1591	29	11	32	26.23	2.77	18	.06	1.04	.12

6.2 BIVARIATE ANALYSES

6.2.1 PEARSON PRODUCT-MOMENT CORRELATIONS OF INDEPENDENT VARIABLES AND SELF-EFFICACY

Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficient was used to assess the relationships between the dependent variable and the following continuous independent variables: working hours, hours spent in school, and parent relations. According to Cohen (1988), a small correlation is indicated by r values ranging from .10 to .29, medium correlations range from r = .30 to .49, and large correlations range from r = .50 to 1.0.

Out of the three independent variables, working hours did not show a significant correlation, whereas hours in school (r = -.06, n = 1600, p < .005) and parent relations (r = .46, n = 1572, p < .001) were negatively associated with self-efficacy at a statistically significant level. The first correlation between working hours and self-efficacy was very small, with longer hours spent in school associated with lower levels of self-efficacy. The correlation between parent relations and self-efficacy was medium-strong, with higher levels of parent relations associated with higher levels of self-efficacy. See Table 3 for Pearson product-moment correlations of the independent variables and self-efficacy. Pearson product-moment correlation was further used to assess correlations between the independent variables. The results are discussed in the forthcoming section 6.3.1 (see Appendix D for details).

Table 3 - Pearson product-moment correlations between self-efficacy and independent variables

Variable	n	Missing	Pearson Correlation	Sig. (2-tailed)
Working hours	1600	20	04	.159
Hours in school	1600	20	06*	.013
Parent relations	1572	19	.46**	.000

^{**.} Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

6.2.2 INDEPENDENT SAMPLES T-TEST

Independent samples t-test was used to compare self-efficacy scores across male and female adolescents. The effect size was measured using Cohen's *d*, with .20 representing a small effect, .50 a medium effect, and .80 a large effect (Cohen, 1988).

There was no statistically significant difference in self-efficacy scores for males and females. The mean self-efficacy score for males (M = 30.54, SD = 3.11) differed only slightly from the mean self-efficacy score of females (M = 30.39, SD = 3.36). See Table 4 for the full results.

Table 4 - T-test for self-efficacy scores between male and female adolescents

Variable	n	M (SD)	Mean Diff.	t	df	p	95% LL	6 CI UL	Cohen's
Male Female	825 775	30.54 (3.11) 30.39 (3.36)	.15	.95	1598	.342	16	.47	05
Total	1600	(0.00)							

Note. CI = Confidence interval; LL = Lower limit; UL = Upper limit

6.2.3 ONE-WAY BETWEEN-GROUPS ANOVA

One-way between-groups analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare mean scores of self-efficacy between groups of the following variables: subjective health, subjective household wealth, and pride in work. Eta squared (η^2) was used to measure the effect size, with .01 representing a small effect, 0.06 a medium effect, and .14 a large effect (Pallant, 2020).

Subjective health

Levene's test for homogeneity of variances indicated no violation of the assumption of homogeneity of variance (p > .05). There was a statistically significant difference in self-efficacy scores for the four groups at the p < .05 level: F(3, 1596) = 7.14, p < .001. Despite reaching statistical significance, the difference in mean scores between the groups was rather

^{*.} Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

small. The effect size calculated using eta squared was 0.1. See Table 5 for details. Post-hoc comparisons using Turkey HSD test indicated that the mean self-efficacy score for Group 4 (very good: M = 30.86, SD = 3.33) was statistically significantly different from that of Group 1 (very poor or poor, M = 29.48, SD = 2.95) at the .05 level. In other words, adolescents who reported very good health also reported higher self-efficacy scores compared to those reporting very poor or poor health. The same results can be reported for Group 4 (very good) and Group 3 (good: M = 30.15, SD = 3.05). There was no statistically significant mean difference between Group 2 (average: M = 30.42, SD = 3.45) and any of the other groups.

Table 5 - One-way between-groups ANOVA for self-efficacy depending on subjective health

Variable	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	η ²
Between groups	221.34	3	117.89	7.14	.000	.01
Within groups	16494.70	1596	10.25			
Total	16716.04	1599				

Subjective household wealth

A one-way between-groups analysis of variance was conducted to compare the effect of subjective household wealth on self-efficacy. Levene's test for homogeneity of variances indicated a violation of the assumption of homogeneity of variance (p < .05). A Welch's F test was consulted, and a statistically significant difference in self-efficacy scores for the groups was found at the p < .05 level: F (3, 335.80) = 13.35, p < .001. The calculated effect size of .03represents a small effect. See Table 6 for details. Because the assumption of homogeneity of variances was violated, Games-Howell post-hoc comparison was conducted, as it does not assume homogeneity of variances (Ruxton & Beauchamp, 2008). Group 1 (very rich or rich, M = 31.34, SD = 3.26) statistically significantly differed from Group 3 (struggle to get by, M = 29.77, SD = 3.59) and Group 4 (poor or destitute, M = 29.51, SD = 2.94). The majority of adolescents perceived their household as comfortable (Group 2). The mean self-efficacy score of that group (comfortable, M = 30.66, SD = 3.06) was also statistically significantly different from Group 3 (struggle to get by) and Group 4 (poor or destitute). There was no statistically significant difference between the subjectively wealthier Groups 1 and 2, or the subjectively poorer Groups 3 and 4. See Appendix C for descriptive statistics of self-efficacy by subjective household wealth.

Pride in work

A one-way between-groups analysis of variance was conducted to compare the effect of adolescents' pride in their work on self-efficacy. Levene's test for homogeneity of variances indicated a violation of the assumption of homogeneity of variance (p < .05). A Welch's F test was consulted, and a statistically significant difference in self-efficacy scores for the groups found at the p < .05 level: F (3, 269.14) = 35.18, p < .001. The calculated effect size of .09 represents an intermediate effect. See Table 6 for details. Games-Howell post-hoc test was used to explore differences among the groups. It revealed that Group 4 (strongly agree: M = 32.32, SD = 3.94) statistically significantly differed from all other groups (significant at the .05 level). The largest mean difference (MD = 3.65) was between Group 4 (strongly agree) and Group 1 (strongly disagree or disagree, M = 28.67, SD = 3.89). The only comparison that did not reach statistical significance was between Group 2 (more or less: M = 29.89, SD = 2.72) and Group 3 (agree: M = 30.14, SD = 2.74). See Appendix C for descriptive statistics of self-efficacy by pride in work.

Table 6 - Welch's F test results from one-way between-groups ANOVA for self-efficacy depending on pride in work, and subjective household wealth

Variable	Statistics ^a	df1	df2	Sig.	$\eta^{_2}$
Subjective household wealth	13.35	3	335.80	.000	.03
Pride in work	35.18	3	269.14	.000	.09

^a. Asymptotically F distributed.

6.3 HIRARCHICAL MULTIPLE REGRESSION

As explained in the analysis plan, hierarchical multiple regression was used to examine associations between the three independent variables of this study (working hours, time spent in school and parent relations) and self-efficacy. In a later step, the control variables were included in the model. The categorical control variables (subjective health, subjective household wealth, and pride in work) were recoded into dummy variables. Before conducting multiple regression analysis, the study variables were checked for outliers, multicollinearity, normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013).

6.3.1 EVALUATION OF ASSUMPTIONS

Outliers

Preliminary analysis revealed twelve outliers (.74%) with standardised residual values of \pm 3.32 which were removed after careful examination. Mahalanobis distances were obtained as an additional statistical method screening for outliers. Ten cases exceeded the critical value of 16.27,3 however, the obtained maximum Cook's distance value of .188 indicated that those cases do not have «any undue influence on the results for our model as a whole» (Pallant, 2020, p. 166). Consequently, the cases were retained.

Multicollinearity

After removing the outliers, the three independent variables were checked for multicollinearity using Pearson's correlation coefficients (see Appendix D for the full results). The assumption was not violated. There was a statistically significant medium negative correlation between working hours and hours spent in school (r = .39, n = 1620, p < .001). However, the correlation was not large enough to cause concern (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). The collinearity statistics obtained also did not indicate cause for concern for further multiple regression analysis.

Normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity

The examination of a residual scatterplot is a graphical method to test assumptions of normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity. After removing the outliers, the data points were rectangularly distributed with a concentration of scores along the center, which indicates the assumptions are met (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013).

6.3.2 MODEL 1 – WORKING HOURS AND SELF-EFFICACY

Model 1 presents a standard linear regression, with one independent variable (working hours) and one dependent variable (self-efficacy). When regressing the dependent variable onto the independent variable, working hours accounted for 0.1% of the variance in self-efficacy scores ($R^2 = .001$), indicating that the linear regression model did not fit the observed data well (Cohen, 1988). In addition, the result was not statistically significant, F(1, 1558) = 1.98, p = 0.160. This

² Tabachnick and Fidell (2013) define cases with standardized residuals in excess of about \pm 3.3 as outliers. This guideline has been reproduced, inter alia, by Pallant (2016).

³ To evaluate Mahalanobis distance values, Tabachnick and Fidell (2013) suggest a critical chi-square value of 16.27 when using three independent variables.

result was consistent with the very small non-significant correlation between total working hours and self-efficacy found in the bivariate analysis. See Table 7 (Model 1) for a full summary of the model.

Table 7 - Model Summary^e of multiple regression between the independent variables, the control variables, and the dependent variable

				Std. Error	Chang	ge Statis	tics	cs		
			Adjusted	of the	\mathbb{R}^2	F			Sig. F	
Model	R	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbb{R}^2	Estimate	Change	Change	df1	df2	Change	
1	$.036^{a}$.001	.000	3.121	.001	1.98	1	1558	.160	
2	$.092^{b}$.008	.007	3.111	.007	11.32	1	1557	.001	
3	.511°	.261	.259	2.687	.252	530.86	1	1556	.000	
4	$.547^{\rm d}$.300	.294	2.624	.173	127.37	3	1546	.000	

^a. Predictors: (Constant), Working hours

Table 8 provides the regression coefficients for all models, including unstandardised B and standardised beta⁴. In the first regression model, an increase of one working hour was associated with a decrease of B = .06 scores on the self-efficacy scale. The working hours variable did not make a statistically significant unique contribution to the prediction of self-efficacy (*beta* = .04, p = .160).

_

^b. Predictors: (Constant), Working hours, hours spent in school

^c. Predictors: (Constant), Working hours, hours spent in school, parent relations

^d. Predictors: (Constant), sex, average health, good health, very good health, pride in work – more or less agree, pride in work – agree, pride in work – strongly agree, wealth – comfortable, wealth – struggle to get by, wealth – poor or destitute, working hours, hours spent in school, parent relations

^e. Dependent variable: Self-efficacy

⁴The unstandardised B indicates the change in the dependent variable associated with a one unit change in the independent variable when all other independent variables are held constant (Tinsley et al., 2000; Lane, 2013). It gives an indication of the direction and slope of the linear relationship. Because the unstandardised B is given in the metric of the respective independent variable, it is of advantage to use standardised beta coefficients to compare the effects of multiple independent variables measured on different scales. The standardised beta coefficient indicates the unique contribution of each independent variable to the dependent variable, when the variance explained by all other variables in the model is controlled for (Pallant, 2016).

 $Table\ 8-Coefficients^a\ of\ hierarchical\ multiple\ regression\ between\ the\ independent\ variables,\ the\ control\ variables,\ and\ the\ dependent\ variable$

		Unstandardised Coefficients Std.		Standard. Coeff.			95%	CI
Model		В	Error	Beta	t	Sig.	LL	UL
1	(Constant)	30.75	.19		163.91	.000	30.38	31.12
	Working hours	06	.04	04	-1.41	.160	14	.02
2	(Constant)	32.44	.54		60.44	.000	31.39	33.49
	Working hours	12	.05	07	-2.60	.009	21	03
	Hours spent in school	25	.08	09	-3.37	.001	40	11
3	(Constant)	17.15	.81		21.19	.000	15.56	18.74
	Working hours	11	.04	07	-2.83	.005	19	03
	Hours spent in school	21	.06	08	-3.18	.002	33	08
	Parent relations	.57	.03	.50	23.04	.000	.52	.62
4	(Constant)	18.74	.95		19.72	.000	18.88	20.61
	Sex	23	.14	04	-1.70	.089	49	.04
	Health ^b							
	Average	.88	.45	.09	1.96	.050	.00	1.75
	Good	.48	.42	.08	1.15	.249	34	1.30
	Very good	.84	.42	.13	2.01	.045	.02	1.66
	Wealth ^c							
	Comfortable	42	.22	07	-1.91	.057	85	.01
	Struggle to get by	-1.13	.25	15	-4.52	.000	-1.61	64
	Poor or destitute	61	.33	05	-1.83	.067	-1.27	.04
	Pride ^d							
	More or less	.39	.33	.04	1.19	.236	26	1.03
	Agree	.37	.26	.06	1.45	.146	13	.87
	Strongly agree	1.51	.30	.19	5.11	.000	.93	2.09
	Working hours	13	.04	08	-3.43	.001	21	06
	Hours spent in school	23	.06	08	-3.55	.000	35	10
	Parent relations	.50	.03	.44	18.65	.000	.45	.55

a. Dependent variable: Self-efficacy
b. Reference is very poor or poor health
c. Reference is very rich or rich
d. Reference is strongly disagree or disagree
Note. CI = Confidence interval; LL = Lower limit; UL = Upper limit

6.3.3 MODEL 2 – WORKING HOURS, HOURS SPENT IN SCHOOL AND SELF-EFFICACY

The full model summary for Model 2 can be found in Table 7. Entering the hours spent in school variable accounted for an additional 0.7% of the variance in self-efficacy scores, R^2 Change = .007. Consequently, Model 2 explained 0.8% of the variance in the dependent variable (R^2 = .008), indicating it also did not fit the observed data very well. Despite the model only accounting for a very small variance in self-efficacy scores, hours spent in school statistically significantly improved R^2 at its point of entry, F(1, 1566) = 11.02, p = .001.

As can be seen in Table 8, the unstandardised coefficient of working hours changed from B = -.06 in Model 1 to B = -.12 in Model 2. Hence, the independent variable hours spent in school slightly increased the negative effect of working hours on self-efficacy. While working hours did not make a statistically unique contribution in Model 1, the variable's unique contribution did reach statistical significance at the p < .05 level in Model 2 (beta = -.07, p = .009). Hours spent in school made a statistically significant unique contribution to the prediction of self-efficacy (beta = -.09, p = .001). With every additional hour spent in school self-efficacy scores among adolescents in the sample decreased by B = .25.

6.3.4 MODEL 3 – WORKING HOURS, HOURS SPENT IN SCHOOL, PARENT RELATIONS AND SELF-EFFICACY

Model 3 consisted of working hours, hours spent in school, and parent relations. Altogether, it explained 26.1% of the variance in self-efficacy scores ($R^2 = .261$). The R^2 value obtained indicates better goodness-of-fit to the observed data compared to the other two models (Cohen, 1988). Entering parent relations into the model explained an additional 25.2% of the variance in the dependent variable (R^2 Change = .252). Model 3 was statistically significant, F(1, 1556) = 530.86, p < .001. For the full model summary see Table 7.

After entering parent relations into the regression model, the unstandardised coefficient of working hours and hours spent in school slightly decreased to B = -.11 and B = -.21, respectively. The direction of the relationship remained the same, both variables made a similar small statistically significant contribution to self-efficacy in terms of magnitude ($beta_{work} = -.07$, p = .005; $beta_{school} = -.08$, p = .002). Parent relations made the biggest statistically significant unique contribution to the dependent variable, beta = .50, p < .001, when the variance explained by all other variables in the model was controlled for. According to the unstandardised coefficient, an increase of one score on the parent relations scale is associated

with an increase of B = .57 scores on the self-efficacy scale. All regression coefficients and associated p-values of Model 3 can be found in Table 8.

6.3.5 MODEL 4 – HIERARCHICAL MULTIPLE REGRESSION INCLUDING CONTROL VARIABLES

The control variables sex, subjective health, subjective household wealth, and pride in work were entered in block 1, explaining 12.6% of the variance in self-efficacy ($R^2 = .126$). After entering the three independent variables in block 2, the total variance explained by Model 4 was 30.0% ($R^2 = .300$). Consequently, working hours, hours spent in school, and parent relations explained an additional 17.3% of the variance in self-efficacy, after statistically accounting for the control variables, R^2 Change = .173. Model 4 was statistically significant, F (3, 1546) = 127.37, P < .001. The full summary for Model 4 can be found in Table 7. For a summary of the control model see Appendix E.

Of the four control variables, subjective health – very good (beta = .13, p = .045), subjective household wealth – struggle to get by (beta = -.15, p < .001), and pride in work – strongly agree (beta = .19, p < .001) made a statistically significant unique contribution to self-efficacy (reference categories were very poor or poor health, very rich or rich, and strongly disagree or disagree, respectively). Sex did not statistically significantly contribute to the dependent variable, which is in line with the non-significant result found in the independent samples t-test between sex and self-efficacy. The unique contribution of the three independent variables remained statistically significant. Parent relations still made the biggest unique contribution (beta = .44, p < .001) to self-efficacy, followed by hours spent in school (beta = .08, p < .001), and working hours (beta = -.08, p = .001). Compared to Model 3, which did not statistically account for control variables, the unstandardised negative effect of working hours (B = -.13) and hours spent in school (B = -.23) slightly increased in Model 4. In contrast, the positive effect of parent relations on self-efficacy slightly decreased (B = .50). All coefficients of Model 4 can be found in Table 8. For a summary of the regression coefficients of the control model see Appendix F.

7. DISCUSSION

The overarching objective of this thesis was to explore the relationship between family-based work and self-efficacy among 15-year-old Ethiopian adolescents. In pursuing an ecological approach, hours spent in school and the adolescent-parent-relationship were included as

additional independent variables. Using hierarchical multiple regression analysis, a series of increasingly complex models was built that indicate the explanatory power of working hours, hours spent in school, and parent relations and provide insight into the direction and magnitude of the relationships between the three independent variables and self-efficacy. Using secondary data from Young Lives, the study found evidence that the number of working hours had a significant, yet very small, effect on self-efficacy levels when taking hours spent in school and parent relations into account. While the effects of working hours and hours spent in school on self-efficacy were small, a more substantial association was found between parent relations and self-efficacy levels. The subsequent chapter discusses the results of the analyses in more detail, starting with an evaluation of Ethiopian adolescents' time allocation and their self-efficacy levels. After setting the scene, the results related to the association between working hours and self-efficacy are discussed, followed by a discussion of the impact of hours spent in school and parent relations on the relationship. The last section serves as an overall reflection of the results. Throughout the discussion, the results are related to the established literature and the conceptual framework guiding this thesis. The chapter concludes with an outline and discussion of the key methodological limitations and strengths of this study.

7.1 WORK, SCHOOL AND SELF-EFFICACY AMONG ETHIOPIAN ADOLESCENTS

7.1.1 TIME SPENT WORKING AND TIME SPENT IN SCHOOL

Before discussing the relationship between family-based work and self-efficacy among Ethiopian adolescents in more detail, it is worth taking a look at the results of the univariate analysis presented in section 6.1. Adolescents in the Young Lives sample spent approximately four hours per day working for and within the family, which can be projected to approximately 28 hours per week. The Ethiopian National Child Labour Survey (2018) conducted in 2015 (same year as Round 5 of Young Lives survey) found comparable results on the national level, with 14-17-year-olds who attend school reporting 27.3 weekly working hours. Both numbers exceed the threshold for light work of 14 hours of work per week, which, according to the ILO (2017), implies that work is harmful to the child's health and interferes with their school attendance. Consequently, solely based on the number of working hours, one could expect to find a negative association between family-based work and self-efficacy. At the same time, the working hours reported in the sample on average are more moderate than working hours reported previously, for example by Fekadu et al. (2006) for Ethiopia (eight hours daily) or by

Al-Gamal et al. (2013) for Jordan (33.9 hours per week). This could be explained by these studies' focus on children who engage in paid economic activity, as they usually report longer working hours than children who engage in non-economic activity (Central Statistical Agency of Ethiopia, 2018).

The descriptive statistics further disclose that during a typical day the 15-year-olds in the sample spent a little less than six hours in school (including travelling time). This implies that in terms of time allocation, Ethiopian adolescents spend more time in school than working for and within their family. It is interesting to note that compared to Round 2 of the Young Lives study (conducted in 2006), the mean number of hours spent in school increased by approximately one hour (Orkin, 2012), which could be explained by Ethiopia's expansion of educational services (Central Statistical Agency of Ethiopia, 2018). While in 2005 the federal government requested schools to abolish the shift system and thereby expand the school day from four to five and a half hours (MOE, 2005), the shift system seems to have remained present, especially in rural Ethiopia (Orkin, 2013). It allows schools to teach one group of children in the morning and another group in the afternoon, making school attendance more compatible with work and vice versa (Admassie, 2003; Tafere & Pankhurst, 2015b). To conclude this section, it can be summarised that 15-year-old Ethiopian adolescents in the Young Lives sample spend enough time at work for it to be considered harmful to their development, while at the same time spending long hours in school which could either lessen potential negative effects of work or could enhance them. The relationship between work and school is discussed in more detail in section 7.2.2.

7.1.2 EVALUATION OF SELF-EFFICACY LEVELS

Next to providing insightful information about adolescents' time allocation, the descriptive statistics revealed a mean self-efficacy score of 30.47 among the 15-year-olds. According to Schwarzer (2014), one of the developers of the general self-efficacy scale, there is no cut-off score that determines whether an individual has high or low self-efficacy; consequently no conclusions can be drawn as to whether the mean self-efficacy score obtained from the sample indicates high, moderate, or low levels of general self-efficacy. Consequently, the self-efficacy score itself is of limited informative value when it is not compared either to a control group (e.g., non-working adolescents) or values obtained in former studies. A comparison with the two previously mentioned studies examining efficacy levels of working children would have been interesting but was not possible because either results from univariate analysis were not reported (Feeny et al., 2021) or efficacy was measured with a different instrument (Al-Gamal

et al., 2013). However, an assessment of the mean level of self-efficacy was not the main focus of the present study, but rather understanding how self-efficacy levels vary with work duration.

7.2 EVALUATION OF RESEARCH QUESTIONS

7.2.1 FAMILY-BASED WORK AND ITS ASSOCIATION WITH SELF-EFFICACY

Contrary to expectations, the principal variable of interest, working hours, did not show a significant association with self-efficacy in the bivariate analysis. Beyond the bivariate analysis, no association between the number of hours spent on family-based work and general self-efficacy was found in regression Model 1. This is a surprising finding for several reasons. Firstly, previous literature frequently reports an association between both economic and non-economic activity and psychosocial health among children and adolescents of a similar age as the study sample (e.g. Al-Gamal et al., 2013; Feeny et al., 2021). This discrepancy could be explained by the literature review being subject to publication bias, an issue highlighted by Kuimi et al. (2018) — in their systematic literature review on child labour and its association with health only three out of 78 reviewed articles report a non-significant association. Secondly, the non-significant association was unexpected given that both the established literature and the conceptual framework repeatedly emphasise the importance of work duration (e.g. Al-Gamal et al., 2013; Hesketh et al., 2012; Nuwayhid et al., 2005). Thus, further research is needed to explore the direct association between working hours, whether spent on economic or non-economic activity, and psychosocial health.

While the association between family-based working hours and self-efficacy was not significant in the bivariate analysis and regression Model 1, the association reached statistical significance in all subsequent regression models. This change in significance could indicate a potential interaction effect which is discussed in more detail in section 7.2.5. The results showed a negative direction of the relationship which could be interpreted either in relation to work duration or in relation to the type of work activity. Regarding work duration, the obtained result seems to lend support to the ILO (1999) which suggests excessive work, despite whether it is of economic or non-economic nature, to negatively affect the psychosocial health of children. The suggested threshold for economic activity is 14 hours per week or more, while the threshold for non-economic activity such as household chores is slightly higher at 21 hours per week (ILO, 2017). Following on from these suggested cut-offs, the negative direction of the relationship could be attributed to excessive working hours, as the average number of weekly working hours performed by the adolescent sample exceeds both thresholds. Supportive of this

claim, a study among adolescent domestic workers suggests that working hours of more than 10 hours per day negatively affect psychosocial health (Hesketh et al., 2012). However, beyond this study, there is limited empirical evidence on the unmediated effects of work duration on psychosocial health.

Interpreting the negative effect in relation to the type of work activity is not straightforward. From the obtained result it seems as though psychosocial health risks for 15year-old adolescents in Ethiopia are amplified through family-based work. While scholars have argued that contributions to the functioning and subsistence of the family can positively impact on the psychosocial health of children (e.g. Libório & Ungar, 2010; Pankhurst et al., 2015), the opposite was observed in this study. Finding potential explanations for this result is difficult mainly because previous literature so far did not assess psychosocial impacts of family-based work. While this gap in the literature justifies the present study, it leaves no possibility for comparison. At the same time, a comparison with previous research on psychosocial impacts of economic and non-economic activity is hampered by the fact that the concept of familybased work as employed in this thesis encompasses both (agricultural work as economic activity and household chores as non-economic activity). To illustrate this further: Among the studies concerned with psychosocial impacts of non-economic activity, researchers have argued that performing household chores or looking after family members could foster a sense of self-worth and thereby benefit children's psychosocial health (Feeny et al., 2021; Trinh, 2020). The negative direction of the relationship between family-based working hours and self-efficacy obtained in this study is not consistent with such claims. However, the studies referred to do not include information about the time spent on non-economic activity, and thus cannot draw conclusion as to whether excessive engagement in non-economic activity beyond the thresholds presented previously might also negatively impact on psychosocial health. Still, it could be argued that the positive effect described by Feeny et al. (2021) and Trinh (2020) is present but overshadowed by the negative impact of agricultural work where children are thought to be disproportionality exposed to hazards (Feeny et al., 2021; ILO, 2011). As a consequence, it must be noted that the present study cannot draw conclusions in terms of the individual effects of the economic and non-economic activities that make up family-based work and whether they might oppose each other.

7.2.2 THE IMPACT OF HOURS SPENT IN SCHOOL

As part of his conceptual framework, Woodhead (2004) argues that schooling can either amplify or attenuate psychosocial impacts of work. The results in the present study seem to

indicate that time spent in school indeed amplifies the negative effects of family-based work on adolescents' general self-efficacy. Thus, the study seems to lend support to researchers who suggest work and schooling to be competitive (e.g. Al-Gamal et al., 2013; Orkin, 2012). In very general terms, Woodhead (2004) characterises this condition as the inability to balance work and school which can put children at risk for adverse psychosocial health, for instance expressed through ineffective coping. While this study did not assess specific aspects that might have led to this competing effect, it is conceivable that irrespective of the activity the overall time strain on adolescents is too high. Arguably, being occupied by work and school approximately ten hours each day leaves little time for leisure and play, which is regarded crucial to a child's cognitive, emotional, and social development (Ginsburg et al., 2007) (see also Convention on the Rights of the Child, 1989, Article 31, where rest, leisure, and play is recognised as a right of every child). Further, it is plausible that in the adolescent sample working hours and school hours interfere with one another due to inflexibility of schools to local work patterns, even where the shift system is in place (see Orkin, 2012; Tafere & Pankhurst, 2015a for detailed mixed methods research on whether children in Ethiopia can combine work and school attendance).

Besides the finding that hours spent in school seem to amplify the negative relationship between family-based working hours and self-efficacy, it was observed that in terms of magnitude the negative effect of hours spent in school was greater than that of working hours. While this result contradicts the common assumption that school is beneficial to the health of the child (see e.g. Hesketh et al., 2012; UNESCO, 2016), it does not necessarily refute it. One potential explanation could be that adolescents value (family-based) work more than they value school as «working signifies the onset of economic activity, and leads to the accumulation of experience and development of abilities necessary for the activities they will perform in the future» (Benvegnú et al., 2005, p. 1423). Consequently, additional hours spent in school might not leave children with a stronger belief in their capabilities. Such value-based reasoning aligns with Woodhead's (2004) argument that psychosocial health impacts of work cannot be separated from values. While this study did not account for it, the negative effect of hours spent in school on self-efficacy could also be explained by high aspirations for educational achievement that cannot be met due to the obligation to participate in family-based work (Boyden et al., 2016). The resulting discrepancy between aspiration and actual performance could negatively affect adolescents' belief in their capabilities.

7.2.3 THE IMPACT OF PARENT RELATIONS

Beyond schooling, Woodhead (2004) suggests the family environment to be a crucial influence for working adolescents' psychosocial health. Irrespective of whether work is performed for the family or for an employer, the adolescents' relationship with their parents is crucial in that it constitutes the main source of social support and thus can have great impact on adolescents' psychosocial health (Kautz et al., 2014; Woodhead, 2004). In this study, the important role of parent relations is even more pronounced given that adolescents perform their work activities for and within the family. To reiterate, Woodhead (2004) argues that parent relations, like schooling, can amplify or attenuate psychosocial impacts of work. In contrast to the impacts of schooling, the results seem to indicate that parent relations attenuate the negative effects of hours spent on family-based work. Arguably, this result could be a sign of reasonable parental expectations in relation to work contributions (Woodhead, 2004) and that «children and their interests are respected by the controlling adults» (Hesketh et al., 2012, p. 776; see also Nuwayhid et al., 2005). Thus, it could be contended that among the adolescent sample the family offers safe working conditions in terms of demand and positive role models which buffer the negative effect of working hours on self-efficacy levels (Feeny et al., 2021; Pankhurst et al., 2015). Similar to the discussion on the role of time spent in school, an interaction between working hours and parent relations might be present (see section 7.2.5 for a reflection on this).

In addition to the finding that parent relations attenuate the negative association between family-based working hours and self-efficacy, the analyses revealed a strong positive association between parent relations and self-efficacy. First and foremost, this result is consistent with previous literature that assigns the family a vital role in forming adolescents' beliefs about their capabilities to shape their destiny (Kautz et al., 2014; Krishnan & Krutikova, 2010; Thomas & Joseph, 2013; Woodhead, 2004). Moreover, considering the results discussed in the previous sections, the result seems to support the finding of Maciel et al. (2013) that family functioning is more important to children's psychosocial health than their working status.

7.2.4 FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH SELF-EFFICACY IN THE CONTEXT OF WORK

Next to the main results discussed above, the analysis revealed additional interesting results that should be mentioned briefly. In line with previous findings (Alem et al., 2006; Maciel et al., 2013), the study found no significant difference in self-efficacy levels between working boys and girls in the bivariate analysis. Further, sex did not make a unique contribution to self-

efficacy in the regression analysis, indicating that family-based work equally impacts on male and female adolescents. A pro-male bias in self-efficacy among 15-year-old Ethiopians, as found by Dercon and Singh (2013), could not be observed. In contrast to the results of the sex variable, self-efficacy levels significantly differed across the categories of subjective health, subjective household wealth, and pride in work. Above all, the results of the pride in work variable stand out as they point to the importance of subjective meaning attached to work. This finding supports Woodhead's (2004) conceptual reasoning outlined in chapter 2, that work valued by adolescents themselves or their families can promote psychosocial health. Qualitative research methods could be used to further explore this relationship which so far seems to have been neglected in research on psychosocial impacts of work.

7.2.5 OVERALL REFLECTION

According to Woodhead (2004), «[d]emonstrating how work impacts on children's well-being is not straightforward» (p. 328). Both previous literature on psychosocial impacts of work and associated factors as well as the results of the present study underline this statement. Three aspects seem to be decisive for an attempt to shed light on the complex relationship between work and its psychosocial health impacts. Firstly, the literature review has shown that impacts of work are different depending on the type of activity and dimension of psychosocial health explored. Consequently, they need to be assessed separately from one another. Secondly, the direction of the psychosocial health impact seems to be determined by the amount of time adolescents spent on the respective activity, as suggested by the ILO's (2017) thresholds. Finally, as outlined by the conceptual framework, in-depth knowledge of the work activity itself, the environment and the cultural context in which it is performed is required when assessing psychosocial impacts of work. In exploring self-efficacy impacts of family-based working hours through an ecological lens, the present study complied with the aforementioned aspects and thus was able to draw a more nuanced picture of psychosocial health impacts than previous studies have. To summarise, the analyses have shown that working for the functioning and subsistence of the family does not seem to impact largely on Ethiopian adolescents' selfefficacy beliefs, as indicated by the small explained variance found in Model 1 ($R^2 = .001$). Still, a negative and statistically significant association between working hours and selfefficacy was observed. Time spent in school was found to slightly amplify the negative association, while parent relations were discovered to attenuate the negative impacts of familybased work on adolescents' self-efficacy levels. While the effects differ in direction and magnitude, working hours, hours spent in school, and parent relations were able to predict a

significant amount of variance in general self-efficacy levels after differences among adolescents in sex, subjective health, subjective household wealth, and pride in work have been accounted for.

A final note is warranted here on potential interaction effects between work duration, hours spent in school, and parent relations. As discussed in section 7.2.1, there was no significant association between working hours and self-efficacy in the bivariate analysis and regression Model 1. Interestingly, the association reached statistical significance after entering the school variable (Model 2), indicating a potential interaction effect between the two variables. According to Tabachnick and Fidell (2013) an interaction effect is present when the importance of one variable varies over the range of another variable. In other words, so-called moderator variables alter «the direction or strength of the relation between a predictor and an outcome» (Frazier et al., 2004, p. 116). From the change in statistical significance, it could be hypothesized that self-efficacy levels of adolescents performing family-based work are affected differently depending on the number of hours they spent in school. In addition, it is conceivable that an interaction effect between working hours and parent relations might be present where self-efficacy levels of adolescents performing family-based work are affected differently depending on whether they have good or bad relations with their parents. However, due to the limited scope of the thesis no analyses were performed to test whether and to what extent an interaction effect is present.

7.3 METHODOLOGICAL LIMITATIONS

All study results should be interpreted in light of the methodological limitations outlined below.

7.3.1 STUDY DESIGN AND OMMITTED VARIABLES

This study was limited by its cross-sectional design. While the cross-sectional approach made it possible to observe the relationship between work duration and self-efficacy of working adolescents in Ethiopia at a certain point in time, it does not allow for causality to be inferred (Ibrahim et al., 2019; Woodhead, 2004). A cross-sectional study design, however, can ascertain a positive or negative relationship and magnitude of an association which is valuable because it helps to understand the phenomenon of interest (Tinsley et al., 2000). As outlined in the literature review, research on child and adolescent work primarily follows a cross-sectional approach. This study and others could have benefitted from a longitudinal design to provide insight on psychosocial impacts of adolescent work over time (see also Nuwayhid et al., 2005)

who suggest that health effects might not show when children have been exposed to work only recently or for a short period of time).

While two ecological factors important to the lives of working adolescents were examined, there are many more that could not be assessed due to the limited scope of this thesis. For instance, when considering additional activities such as school attendance, the influence of peer relations could be interesting to assess. To give another example, when exploring psychosocial impacts of activities that are performed outside the family home, relations with the employer or other responsible adults could help «understand how children [...] feel about their work and the place it holds in their personal development» (Woodhead, 2004, p. 335).

7.3.2 GENERALISABILITY

Young Lives' purposive sampling approach limits the generalisability of this thesis' findings, since the study sample is not nationally representative. Because of the pro-poor bias, the results cannot be extended to the whole of Ethiopia (Morrow, 2017). Nevertheless, the sample reflects the diversity of adolescents in the country in terms of ethnicity, language, religion, and other social norms (Boyden et al., 2016, p. 7; Outes-Leon & Sanchez, 2008; Young Lives, 2018) and consequently can draw robust conclusions about this part of the population (Young Lives, 2017).

7.3.3 SOCIAL DESIRABILITY AND TIME ALLOCATION BIAS

Largely, data on children's and adolescents' well-being is self-reported and therefore potentially biased by social desirability. Social desirability bias describes an error «which is introduced by children's tendency to provide socially desirable answers when asked about sensitive topics or behavior» (Camerini & Schulz, 2017, p. 1170). While some scholars argue that data obtained from adolescents is reliable (Fekadu et al., 2006), others have pointed towards potential over-reporting of "good" behaviours and states (Camerini & Schulz, 2017). It is plausible that the latter applies to the reporting of self-efficacy levels and parent relations in the Young Lives sample. It is further conceivable that the reported number of hours spent at work or in school are influenced by the value and subjective meaning attached by the responding adolescent to each activity. In addition to a social desirability bias, there might be reporting bias in the number of working hours due to seasonally higher or lower demand for certain activities. Boyden et al. (2016) suggests that a realistic assessment of time allocation is difficult as there is seasonal variation in some of the activities undertaken by adolescents, for example farm

work. Further, focusing on work undertaken on a "typical day" is likely to result in underestimation of adolescent's work (Boyden et al., 2016; see also Dillon, 2010).

7.4 CONTRIBUTIONS AND STRENGTHS OF THE STUDY

Despite its methodological limitations, the thesis makes important empirical and conceptual contributions, and can further report methodological strengths. Firstly, there is a limited number of studies concerned with impacts of family-based work, as revealed in the literature review. In addition, very few studies explore self-efficacy levels in relation to adolescent work and its duration, even though it arguably is a key skill to those likely to face many challenges and adverse situations throughout their life course. Thus, this study makes two central contributions to the advancement of empirical health promotion knowledge; it adds to the body of literature that explores the association between activity-specific work duration and psychosocial health impacts, and further provides insight on a psychosocial skill under-researched in the context of adolescent work. The relevance of the empirical contributions is amplified when considering adolescents represent such a large group of the population in Ethiopia.

From a conceptual viewpoint, the study has illustrated the importance of adopting an ecological approach when assessing psychosocial health impacts of adolescent work. The results reported in the previous chapter have shown that the two contextual factors under analysis had a more substantial association with adolescents' self-efficacy levels than the number of family-based working hours. Moreover, the contextual factors seemed to mediate the negative effects of work duration. These findings support the key assumption of the conceptual framework that the context in which work is performed plays a far-reaching role in determining the psychosocial impacts of the activity itself. At the same time, the study points towards the need for conceptual advancement regarding a common approach to assessing psychosocial health impacts of work.

Finally, the use of an established instrument, namely the self-efficacy scale, is a methodological strength of the study. While psychosocial constructs cannot be observed directly and hence cannot be measured directly (Yorke & Portela, 2018), Schwarzer and Jerusalem (1995) were able to develop a scale that has proven to measure general self-efficacy reliably across country-contexts (Scholz et al., 2002). In addition, the scale was developed specifically for adolescents (Schwarzer & Jerusalem, 1995).

8. IMPLICATIONS AND CONCLUSION

8.1 IMPLICATIONS FOR RESEARCH AND PRACTICE

A number of implications for future research and policy interventions can be drawn from the study. Firstly, this study has clearly illustrated the importance of exploring factors that contribute to psychosocial skill development of adolescents given they promote sustained health and facilitate success in later life. On that note, the focus of future research inquiries should be on strengths and positive outcomes, rather than psychopathology. Secondly, longitudinal research on the topic could expand the findings of the predominantly crosssectional studies to trace long-term psychosocial health impacts. Moreover, special focus should be granted to self-efficacy as a dependent variable, while also emphasising psychosocial health impacts of work performed for and within the family. To expand on the results of this study, quantitative research evaluating economic and non-economic family-based work activity separately could inform about their individual psychosocial health effects and how they might interrelate. In connection to this, work duration which up to this point has been a neglected work characteristic in empirical studies, deserves special attention assuming it plays a key role in determining psychosocial health impacts of work. Finally, this thesis has on multiple occasions highlighted the significance of embedding health promotion research inquiries in an ecological approach as it can facilitate a more comprehensive understanding of psychosocial health impacts of work. Beyond hours spent in school and parent relations, the results have shown pride in work to be an important contextual factor. Further investigation into the role of values attached to different work activities on the individual-, community-, and country-level can ensure a more holistic understanding of psychosocial health impacts of work.

Implications for practice were drawn mindful of the fact that «[j]udgements made by an observer about possible risks or benefits of work may not coincide with how children receive those influences» (Woodhead, 2004, p. 327). The subsequently outlined recommendations for policy interventions thus should be recognised with caution. The study results have shown that for Ethiopian adolescents, time spent at work and time spent at school seem to compete causing a decline in their self-efficacy beliefs. A first step to avert such developments could be to acknowledge that work for many adolescents is an economic necessity, and beyond that a potential source for the development of skills required in later life for entry into the labour force. In doing so, future policies may address how flexibility in work and school schedules could be increased so adolescents can benefit from both activities in terms of psychosocial skill development. Moreover, the observed importance of parent relations may be translated into

policy by designing interventions for capacity-building among parents to strengthen adolescents' support systems. Finally, policy efforts to promote adolescent psychosocial health should be guided by a coordinated cross-sectoral approach as demanded in the Ottawa Charter (World Health Organization, 1986).

8.2 CONCLUSION

The overarching objective of this thesis was to explore the relationship between family-based work and general self-efficacy among 15-year-old adolescents in Ethiopia. The specific research questions addressed were to what extent family-based working hours are associated with general self-efficacy levels, and to what extent this association changes when taking hours spent in school and parent relations into account. In addition, a third research question asked whether family-based working hours, hours spent in school and parent relations were able to predict a significant amount of variance in general self-efficacy levels, after statistically accounting for differences in sex, subjective health, subjective household wealth, and pride in work. The number of hours spent in school and parent relations were selected as part of the conceptual framework that highlights the need of an ecological approach for assessing adolescents' psychosocial health. The analyses conducted on secondary data from Young Lives showed that hours spent on family-based work only explained a small amount of variance in general self-efficacy levels. This indicates that working for the functioning and subsistence of the family does not impact largely on Ethiopian adolescents' belief about their capabilities to shape their destiny. Still, a negative and statistically significant association was found, which could be explained by the excessive number of working hours. Time spent at school was found to amplify the negative association, most likely due to the competing nature of work performance and school attendance. At the same time, it was observed that parent relations attenuate the negative impacts of family-based work on general self-efficacy levels, speaking to the argument that the family plays a key role in the development of adolescents' psychosocial skills.

To conclude this thesis, attention should be drawn one last time to the contextual and cultural relativism of adolescent work. In light of previous knowledge, it does seem as though the extent to which work is harmful to the psychosocial health and development of adolescents is activity- and context-specific, and subject to cultural interpretation. Thus, scholars and policy makers should be careful to avoid prejudgements of work as detrimental to health to assure that future efforts in research and practice will translate meaningfully to adolescents' work.

REFERENCES

- Admassie, A. (2003). Child Labour and Schooling in the Context of a Subsistence Rural Economy: Can they be Compatible? *International Journal of Educational Development*, 23(2), 167-185. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0738-0593(02)00012-3
- African Child Policy Forum. (2014). *Children's Well-Being and Work in Sub-Saharan Africa*. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/sites/www.younglives.org.uk/files/Child%20Work%2 0and%20Well-Being ACPF SCI YL%20June%202014 FINAL.pdf
- Al-Gamal, E., Hamdan-Mansour, A. M., Matrouk, R., & Nawaiseh, M. (2013). The Psychosocial Impact of Child Labour in Jordan: A National Study. *International Journal of Psychology*, 48(6), 1156-1164. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207594.2013.780657
- Alem, A. A., Zergaw, A., Kebede, D., Araya, M., Desta, M., Muche, T., Chali, D., & Medhin, G. (2006). Child Labor and Childhood Behavioral and Mental Health Problems in Ethiopia. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Development, 20*(2), 119-126. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ejhd/article/view/10022
- Aliyu, A. A., Bello, M. U., Kasim, R., & Martin, D. (2014). Positivist and Non-Positivist Paradigm in Social Science Research: Conflicting Paradigms or Perfect Partners? *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 4(3), 79-95. https://doi.org/10.5539/jms.v4n3p79
- Ashenafi, Y., Kebede, D., Desta, M., & Alem, A. A. (2001). Prevalence of Mental and Behvaioural Disorders in Ethiopian Children. *East African Medical Journal*, 78(6), 308-311. http://journals.uonbi.ac.ke/files/journals/1/articles/744/public/744-2790-1-PB.pdf
- Aufseeser, D., Bourdillon, M., Carothers, R., & Lecoufle, O. (2018, Mar). Children's Work and Children's Well-being: Implications for Policy. *Development Policy Review*, *36*(2), 241-261. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12215
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a Unifying Theory of Behaviour Change. *Psychological Review*, *84*, 191-215. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-Efficacy. In V. S. Ramachaudran (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Human Behavior* (Vol. 4, pp. 71-81). Academic Press.
- Bandura, A. (2004). Health Promotion by Social Cognitive Means. *Health Education & Behavior*, 31(2), 143-164. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198104263660
- Beegle, K., Dehejia, R., & Gatti, R. (2009). Why Should we Care about Child Labor?: The Education, Labor Market, and Health Consequences of Child Labor. *The Journal of Human Resources*, 44(4), 871-889. https://doi.org/10.1353/jhr.2009.0025
- Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., Hamilton, S. F., & Sesma, J. A. (2007). Positive Youth Development: Theory, Research, and Applications. *Theoretical Models of Human Development*, *1*, 894-941. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470147658.chpsy0116
- Benvegnú, L. s. A. n., Fassa, A. G., Facchini, L. A., Wegman, D. H., & Dall'Agnol, M. M. (2005). Work and Behavioural Problems in Children and Adolescents. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 34(6), 1417-1424. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyi187

- Boyden, J., Porter, C., Zharkevich, I., & Heissler, K. (2016). Balancing School and Work With New Opportunities: Change in Children's Gendered Time Use in Ethiopia (2006-2013). Young Lives. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/sites/www.younglives.org.uk/files/YL-WP161-Boyden%20%282%29_0.pdf
- Brindis, C. D., Park, M. J., Valderrama, L. T., Lee, C. M., Margolis, R., Kolbe, L. J., Achrekar, A. P., Hannan, C., & Anglin, T. M. (2004, 2004). *Improving the Health of Adolescents and Young Adults: A Guide for States and Communities*. U.S, Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://nahic.ucsf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2011/11/Complete2010Guide.pdf
- Burrus, J., & Brenneman, M. (2016). Psychosocial Skills: Essential Components of Development and Achievement in K-12. In A. A. Lipnevich, F. Preckel, & R. D. Roberts (Eds.), *Psychosocial Skills and School Systems in the 21st Century: Theory, Research, and Practice* (pp. 3-27). Springer International Publishing.
- Caglayan, C., Hamzaoglu, O., Yavuz, C. I., & Yuksel, S. (2010, Feb). Working Conditions and Health Status of Child Workers: Cross-Sectional Study of the Students at an Apprenticeship School in Kocaeli. *Pediatrics International*, *52*(1), 6-12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-200X.2009.02881.x
- Camerini, A.-L., & Schulz, P. J. (2017). Social Desirability Bias in Child-Report Social Well-Being: Evaluation of the Children's Social Desirability Short Scale Using Item Response Theory and Examination of Its Impact on Self-Report Family and Peer Relationships. *Child Idicators Research*, 11(4), 1159-1174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-017-9472-9
- Central Statistical Agency of Ethiopia. (2018). *Ethiopia National Child Labour Survey*. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.ilo.org/ipec/Informationresources/WCMS_IPEC_PUB_30035/lang-en/index.htm
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences* (2nd ed.). L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Constitution of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia, August 21, 1995. https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b5a84.html
- Convention on the Rights of the Child, November 20, 1989. https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx
- Cunnien, K. A., Martinrogers, N., & Mortimer, J. T. (2009). Adolescent Work Experience and Self-Efficacy: Child Work in the Twenty-first Century: Dilemmas and Challenges. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, 29(3-4), 164-175. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443330910947534
- de Baessa, Y. (2008, 2008/08/26). Child Labor in Guatemalan Children: An International Pilot Study of the Emotional Effects and Consequences. *Journal of Emotional Abuse*, 8(3), 325-333. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926790802313359
- Dercon, S., & Singh, A. (2013). From Nutrition to Aspirations and Self-Efficacy: Gender Bias over Time among Children in Four Countries. *World Development*, 45, 31-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2012.12.001
- Dillon, A. (2010). Measuring Child Labor: Comparisons between Hours Data and Subjective Measures. In R. K. Q. Akee, E. V. Edmonds, & K. Tatsiramos (Eds.), *Child Labor and the Transition between School and Work* (Vol. v. 31). Emerald.

- Dinku, Y., Fielding, D., & Genc, M. (2019, Aug). Counting the Uncounted: The Consequences of Children's Domestic Chores for Health and Education in Ethiopia. *Review of Development Economics*, 23(3), 1260-1281. https://doi.org/10.1111/rode.12587
- Erskine, H. E., Baxter, A. J., Patton, G., Moffitt, T. E., Patel, V., Whiteford, H. A., & Scott, J. G. (2017, Aug 2017). The Global Coverage of Prevalence Data for Mental Disorders in Children and Adolescents. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, *26*(4), 395-402. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S2045796015001158
- Ethiopian Labour Proclamation No. 42, January 20, 1993. https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/WEBTEXT/31977/64870/E93ETH01.HTM#p4
- Feeny, S., Posso, A., Skali, A., Jyotishi, A., Nath, S., & Viswanathan, P. K. (2021, Apr). Child Labor and Psychosocial Wellbeing: Findings from India. *Health Economics*, 30(4), 876-902. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.4224
- Fekadu, D., Alem, A., & Hägglöf, B. (2006). The Prevalence of Mental Health Problems in Ethiopian Child Laborers. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(9), 954-959. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01617.x
- Frazier, P. A., Tix, A. P., & Barron, K. E. (2004). Testing Moderator and Mediator Effects in Counseling Psychology Research. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *51*(1), 115-134. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.51.1.115
- Ginsburg, K. R., and Committee on, C., and Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of, C., & Family, H. (2007). The Importance of Play in Promoting Healthy Child Development and Maintaining Strong Parent-Child Bonds. *American Academy of Pediatrics*, 119(1), 182-191. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2006-2697
- Global People Strategist. (2021). *Ethiopia Changes in Labor Law*. Retrieved 24.08.2021 from https://www.globalpeoplestrategist.com/ethiopia-changes-in-labor-law/
- Hayes, J., Carvajal, L., Hijazi, Z., Ahs, J. W., Doraiswamy, P. M., El Azzouzi, F. A., Fox, C., Herrman, H., Gornitzka, C. P., Staglin, B., & Wolpert, M. (2021). You Can't Manage What You Do Not Measure Why Adolescent Mental Health Monitoring Matters. *Journal of Adolescent Health*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.04.024
- Hesketh, T. M., Gamlin, J., Ong, M., & Camacho, A. Z. V. (2012). The Psychosocial Impact of Child Domestic Work: A Study from India and the Philippines. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, *97*(9), 773-778. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2012-301816
- Ibrahim, A., Abdalla, S. M., Jafer, M., Abdelgadir, J., & de Vries, N. (2019). Child Labor and Health: A Systematic Literature Review of the Impacts of Child Labor on Child's Health in Low- and Middle-income Countries. *Journal of Public Health (Oxf)*, 41(1), 18-26. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdy018
- ILO. (2011). *Children in Hazardous Work: What We Know, What We Need to Do.* International Labour Office. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_155428.pdf
- ILO. (2014). Instrument for the Psychosocial Assessment of Child Workers (IPAC):

 Background and References. International Labour Organization. Retrieved 10.12.2021
 from https://www.ilo.org/ipec/Informationresources/WCMS_IPEC_PUB_25495/lang-en/index.htm

- ILO. (2017). Global Estimates of Child Labour: Results and Trend, 2012-2016. International Labour Office. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS 575499/lang--en/index.htm
- ILO. (2019). *What is Child Labour*. Retrieved 07.12.2021 from https://www.ilo.org/ipec/facts/lang--en/index.htm
- ILO, & UNICEF. (2021). *Child Labour: Global Estimates 2020, Trends and the Road Forward*. International Labour Office and United Nations Children's Fund. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.ilo.org/ipec/Informationresources/WCMS_797515/lang-en/index.htm
- Kautz, T., Heckman, J., Diris, R., ter Wheel, B., & Borghans, L. (2014). Fostering and Measuring Skills: Improving Cognitive and Non-Cognitive Skills to Promote Lifetime Success. OECD. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.oecd.org/education/ceri/Fostering-and-Measuring-Skills-Improving-Cognitive-and-Non-Cognitive-Skills-to-Promote-Lifetime-Success.pdf
- Kiran, S., Unal, A., Ayoglu, F., Konuk, N., Ocakci, A., & Erdogan, A. (2007). Effect of Working Hours on Behavioral Problems in Adolescents: A Turkish Sample. Neurology, Psychiatry and Brain Research, 14(3), 103-110. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/259820562_Effect_of_Working_Hours_on_ Behavioral_Problems_in_Adolescents_A_Turkish_Sample
- Klasen, H., & Crombag, A.-C. (2013). What Works Where? A Systematic Review of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Interventions for Low and Middle Income Countries. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 48(4), 595-611. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-012-0566-x
- Krishnan, P., & Krutikova, S. (2010). *Skill Formation in Bombay's Slums*. Cambridge Working Papers in Economics. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.repository.cam.ac.uk/handle/1810/229512
- Kuimi, B. L. B., Oppong-Nkrumah, O., Kaufman, J., Nazif-Munoz, J. I., & Nandi, A. (2018, Jun). Child Labour and Health: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Public Health*, 63(5), 663-672. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-018-1075-9
- Lane, D. (2013). *Introduction to Statistics: An Interactive e-Book*. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://onlinestatbook.com/2/index.html
- Lerner, R. M., Almerigi, J. B., Theokas, C., & Lerner, J. V. (2005). Positive Youth Development A View of the Issues. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 25(1), 10-16. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431604273211
- Lewendon, G., Kinra, S., Nelder, R., & Cronin, T. (2001). Should Children with Developmental and Behavioural Problems be Routinely Screened for Lead? *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 85(4), 286-288. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.85.4.286
- Libório, R. M. C., & Ungar, M. (2010). Children's Perspectives on their Economic Activity as a Pathway to Resilience. *Children & Society*, *24*(4), 326-338. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1099-0860.2009.00284.x
- Lippman, L. H., Ryberg, R., Terzian, M., Moore, K. A., Humble, J., & McIntosh, H. (2014). Positive and Protective Factors in Adolescent Well-Being. In A. Ben-Arieh, F. Casas, I. Frønes, & J. E. Korbin (Eds.), *Handbook of Child Well-Being: Theories, Methods and Policies in Global Perspective* (1st ed.). Springer Netherlands.

- Lyon, S., Ranzani, M., & Rosati, F. C. (2013). *Unpaid Household Services and Child Labour*. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---stat/documents/meetingdocument/wcms 221638.pdf
- Maciel, M. R., Mello, A. F., Fossaluza, V., Nobrega, L. P., Cividanes, G. C., Mari, J. J., & Mello, M. F. (2013). Children Working on the Streets in Brazil: Predictors of Mental Health Problems. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 22(3), 165-175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-012-0335-0
- Minimum Age Convention No. 138, June 26, 1973. https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_INS TRUMENT ID:312283
- MOE. (2005). Education Sector Development Programme (ESDP-III) Programme Action Plan. Ministry of Education. Retrieved 07.12.2021 from https://planipolis.iiep.unesco.org/sites/default/files/ressources/ethiopia_education_plan august 2005.pdf
- Morrow, V. (2013). Practical Ethics in Social Research with Children and Families in Young Lives: A Longitudinal Study of Childhood Poverty in Ethiopia, Andhra Pradesh (India), Peru and Vietnam. *Methodological Innovations*, 8(2), 21-35. https://doi.org/10.4256/mio.2013.011
- Morrow, V. (2017). *A Guide to Young Lives Research*. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/content/guide-young-lives-research
- Morrow, V., & Boyden, J. (2018). Responding to Children's Work: Evidence from the Young Lives Study in Ethiopia, India, Peru and Vietnam. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/content/responding-childrens-work-evidence-young-lives-study-ethiopia-india-peru-and-vietnam
- Neumann, L. W. (2014). Social Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. Pearson.
- Nuwayhid, I. A., Usta, J., Makarem, M., Khudr, A., & El-Zein, A. (2005). Health of Children Working in Small Urban Industrial Shops. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 62(2), 86-94. https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.2004.015503
- Orkin, K. (2012). Are Work and Schooling Complementary or Competitive for Children in Rural Ethiopia? A Mixed-Methods Study. Young Lives. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/content/are-work-and-schooling-complementary-or-competitive-children-rural-ethiopia
- Orkin, K. (2013). The Effect of Lengthening the School Day on Children's Achievement in Ethiopia. Young Lives. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/sites/www.younglives.org.uk/files/YL-WP119 Orkin Lengthening%20the%20school%20day.pdf
- Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion: First International Conference on Health Promotion Ottawa, November 21, 1986. https://www.healthpromotion.org.au/images/ottawa_charter_hp.pdf
- Outes-Leon, I., & Sanchez, A. (2008). *An Assessment of the Young Lives Sampling Approach in Ethiopia*. Young Lives. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/sites/www.younglives.org.uk/files/YL-TN1-OutesLeon-Sampling-Approach-In-Ethiopia.pdf

- Pal, M., Pal, J. K., Tiwari, H. R., & Bharati, P. (2011). What Makes Child Workers go to School? A Case Study from West Bengal. *International Labour Review*, 150(3-4), 375-386. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1564-913X.2011.00123.x
- Pallant, J. (2020). SPSS Survival Manual: A Step by Step Guide to Data Analysis Using IBM SPSS (7th ed. ed.). McGraw Hill Education.
- Pankhurst, A., Crivello, G., & Tiumelissan, A. (2015). Work in Children's Lives in Ethiopia: Examples from Young Lives Communities. In A. Pankhurst, M. Bourdillon, & G. Crivello (Eds.), *Children's Work and Labour in East Africa: Social Context and Implications for Policy* (pp. 41-74). OSSREA.
- Patton, G. C., Sawyer, S. M., Santelli, J. S., Ross, D. A., Afifi, R., Allen, N. B., Arora, M., Azzopardi, P., Baldwin, W., Bonell, C., Kakuma, R., Kennedy, E., Mahon, J., McGovern, T., Mokdad, A. H., Patel, V., Petroni, S., Reavley, N., Taiwo, K., Waldfogel, J., Wickremarathne, D., Barroso, C., Bhutta, Z., Fatusi, A. O., Mattoo, A., Diers, J., Fang, J., Ferguson, J., Ssewamala, F., & Viner, R. M. (2016). Our Future: A Lancet Commission on Adolescent Health and Wellbeing. *The Lancet*, 387(10036), 2423-2478. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00579-1
- Performance Monitoring for Action. (2017). *Adolescents & Young Adults Health Brief*.

 Retrieved 10.12.2021 from

 https://www.pmadata.org/sites/default/files/data_product_results/PMA2020-Ethiopia-R5-Adol-Brief.pdf
- Punch, K. F. (2014). *Introduction to Social Research: Quantitative & Qualitative Approaches* (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Ray, R., & Lancaster, G. (2005). The Impact of Children's Work on Schooling: Multi-Country Evidence. *International Labour Review*, *144*(2), 189-210. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1564-913X.2005.tb00565.x
- Rossiter, J., Azubuike, O. B., & Rolleston, C. (2017). *Young Lives School Survey, 2016-17: Evidence from Ethiopia.* Young Lives. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/content/young-lives-school-surveys-2016-17-ethiopia-country-report
- Ruxton, G. D., & Beauchamp, G. (2008). Time for some A Priori Thinking about Post Hoc Testing. *Behavioral Ecology*, 19(3), 690-693. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arn020
- Sawyer, S. M. P., Afifi, R. A. P., Bearinger, L. H. P., Blakemore, S.-J. P., Dick, B. M. B., Ezeh, A. C. P., & Patton, G. C. M. D. (2012). Adolescence: A Foundation for Future Health. *The Lancet*, *379*(9826), 1630-1640. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60072-5
- Scholz, U., Dona, B. G., Sud, S., & Schwarzer, R. (2002). Is General Self-Efficacy a Universal Construct? Psychometric Findings from 25 Countries. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 18(3), 242-251. https://doi.org/10.1027//1015-5759.18.3.242
- Schwarzer, R. (2014). Everything You Wanted to Know about the General Self-Efficacy Scale but were Afraid to Ask. Retrieved 20.11.2021 from http://userpage.fu-berlin.de/~health/faq gse.pdf
- Schwarzer, R., & Jerusalem, M. (1995). Generalized Self-Efficacy Scale. In J. Weinman & M. Johnston (Eds.), *Measures in Health Psychology: A User's Portfolio. Causal and Control Beliefs* (pp. 35-37). NFER-NELSON.

- Steinberg, L., & Dornbusch, S. M. (1991). Negative Correlates of Part-Time Employment During Adolescence: Replication and Elaboration. *Developmental Psychology*, 27(2), 304-313. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.27.2.304
- Sturrock, S., & Hodes, M. (2016). Child Labour in Low- and Middle-income Countries and its Consequences for Mental Health: A Systematic Literature Review of Epidemiologic Studies. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *25*(12), 1273-1286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-016-0864-z
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2013). *Using Multivariate Statistics*. Pearson Education UK.
- Tafere, Y., & Pankhurst, A. (2015a). *Can Children in Ethiopian Communities Combine Schooling with Work?* Young Lives. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/content/children-combining-work-and-schoolethiopian-communities
- Tafere, Y., & Pankhurst, A. (2015b). Children Combining School and Work in Ethiopian Communities. In A. Pankhurst, M. Bourdillon, & G. Crivello (Eds.), *Children's Work and Labour in East Africa: Social Context and Implications for Policy* (pp. 111-131). OSSREA.
- Thomas, N. R., & Joseph, M. V. (2013). Positive Adolescent Development: Relevance of Family Interventions. *Rajagiri Journal of Social Development*, *5*(2), 115. http://journals.rajagiri.edu/index.php/rssJ/article/view/151
- Tinsley, H. E. A., Tinsley, H. E. A., & Brown, S. D. (2000). *Handbook of Applied Multivariate Statistics and Mathematical Modeling*. Elsevier.
- Trinh, T. A. (2020, Dec). Mental Health Impacts of Child Labour: Evidence from Vietnam and India. *Journal of Development Studies*, *56*(12), 2251-2265. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2020.1746280
- UNESCO. (2016). Education 2030: Incheon Declaration and Framework for Action for the Implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4: Ensure Inclusive and Equitable Quality Education and Promote Lifelong Learning. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656
- UNICEF. (2019). *Adolescent Demographics*. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://data.unicef.org/topic/adolescents/demographics/
- United Nations. (2015). *Transforming our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development*.

 https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/21252030%20Agenda%20for%20Sustainable%20Development%20web.pdf
- WHO. (n.d.). *Adolescent Health*. Retrieved 07.12.2021 from https://www.who.int/southeastasia/health-topics/adolescent-health
- Woldehanna, T., & Gebremedhin, A. (2015). Is Child Work Detrimental to the Educational Achievement of Children? Results from Young Lives in Ethiopia. Young Lives. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/sites/www.younglives.org.uk/files/YL-WP140_Child%20work%20and%20education.pdf
- Woodhead, M. (2004). Psychosocial Impacts of Child Work: A Framework for Research, Monitoring and Intervention. *International Journal of Children's Rights, 12*(4), 321-378. https://doi.org/10.1163/1571818043603607

- World Population Review. (2021). *Ethiopia Population 2021*. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://worldpopulationreview.com/countries/ethiopia-population
- Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention No. 182. June 17, 1999. https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO _CODE:C182
- Yaya, S., Ameyaw, E. K., Idriss-Wheeler, D., Shibre, G., & Zegeye, B. (2021, 2021/04/21). Summary Measures of Socioeconomic and Area-Based Inequalities in Fertility Rates among Adolescents: Evidence from Ethiopian Demographic and Health Surveys 2000–2016. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 763. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10729-5
- Yorke, L., & Portela, M. J. O. (2018). *Psychosocial Scales in the Young Lives Round 4 Survey: Selection, Adaptation and Validation*. Young Lives. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/content/psychosocial-scales-young-lives-round-4-survey-selection-adaptation-and-validation-0
- Young Lives. (2017). *A Guide to Young Lives Research*. Retrieved 18.10.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/sites/www.younglives.org.uk/files/GuidetoYLResearc h 0.pdf
- Young Lives. (2018). *Young Lives Survey Design and Sampling: Round 5 in Ethiopia*. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/node/8575
- Young Lives. (n.d.-a). *Household and Child Survey*. Retrieved 10.12.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/content/household-and-child-survey
- Young Lives. (n.d.-b). *Research Ethics*. Retrieved 18.10.2021 from https://www.younglives.org.uk/content/research-ethics

APPENDICES

Appendix A - Items included in psychosocial scales

Scale	Items						
Self-efficacy	I can always manage to solve difficult problems if I try hard enough						
	2. If someone opposes me, I can find the means and ways to get what I want						
	3. It is easy for me to stick to my aims and accomplish my goals						
	4. I am confident that I would deal efficiently with unexpected events						
	5. Thanks to my resourcefulness, I know how to handle unforeseen situations						
	6. I can solve most problems if I invest the necessary effort						
	7. I can remain calm when facing difficulties because I can rely on my coping abilities						
	8. When I am confronted with a problem, I can usually find several solutions						
	9. If I am in trouble, I can usually think of a solution						
	10. I can usually handle whatever comes my way						
Parent relations	My parents understand me						
	2. I like my parents						
	3. My parents like me						
	4. If I have children of my own, I want to bring them up						
	like my parents raised me						
	5. My parents and I spend a lot of time together						
	6. My parents are easy to talk to						
	7. I get along well with my parents						
	8. My parents and I have a lot of fun together						

Appendix B - Frequencies of categorical variables

	Frequency	Percent (Valid Percent)
Sex		
Male	836	51.6 (51.6)
Female	784	48.4 (48.4)
Total	1620	100.0
Subjective health		
Very poor or poor	44	2.7 (2.7)
Average	185	11.4 (11.4)
Good	700	43.2 (43.2)
Very good	691	42.7 (42.7)
Total	1620	100.0
Subjective household wealth		
Very rich or rich	174	10.7 (10.8)
Comfortable	987	60.9 (61.0)
Struggle to get by	350	21.6 (21.6)
Poor or destitute	107	6.6 (6.6)
Total	1618 (missing $n = 2$)	99.9 (.1)
Pride in work		
Strongly disagree or disagree	92	5.7 (5.8)
More or less	143	8.8 (9.0)
Agree	1028	63.5 (64.9)
Strongly agree	321	19.8 (20.3)
Total	1584 (missing $n = 36$)	97.8 (2.2)

 $\label{lem:continuous} \textbf{Appendix} \ \textbf{C} \ \textbf{-} \ \textbf{Descriptive} \ \textbf{statistics} \ \textbf{of} \ \textbf{one-way-between-groups} \ \textbf{ANOVA} \ \textbf{for} \ \textbf{self-efficacy} \\ \textbf{by} \ \textbf{categorical} \ \textbf{variable}$

Variable		М	SD	CE	95% CI		M:	Mari
Variable	n	M	SD	SE	LL	UL	- Min	Max
Subjective health								
Very poor or poor	44	29.47	2.95	.44	28.58	30.37	22	40
Average	182	30.42	3.45	.26	29.92	30.93	19	40
Good	691	30.15	3.05	.12	29.92	30.37	19	40
Very good	683	30.86	3.33	.13	30.61	21.11	18	40
Total	1600	30.47	3.23	.08	30.31	30.62	18	40
Subjective household wealth								
Very rich or rich	172	31.34	3.26	.25	30.85	31.83	18	40
Comfortable	976	30.66	3.06	.10	30.46	30.85	19	40
Struggle to get by	344	29.77	3.59	.19	29.39	30.15	19	40
Poor or destitute	107	29.51	2.94	.28	38.95	30.08	20	36
Total	1599	30.46	3.23	.08	30.31	30.62	18	40
Pride in work								
Strongly disagree or disagree	91	28.67	3.89	.41	27.86	29.48	19	40
More or less	143	29.89	2.72	.23	29.44	30.34	21	39
Agree	1020	30.14	2.74	.09	29.97	30.30	19	40
Strongly agree	315	32.32	3.94	.22	31.89	32.76	18	40
Total	1569	30.48	3.24	.08	30.31	30.63	18	40

Appendix D - Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients for total working hours, hours spent in school, and parent relations

Variable	1	2	3	
(1) Total working hours	1			
(2) Hours in school	39**	1		
(3) Parent relations	.01	03	1	

^{**.} Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

Appendix E - Model Summary^c of multiple regression between total working hours, hours spent in school, parent relations and self-efficacy while controlling for control variables

				Std. Error Change Statistics					
			Adjusted	of the	\mathbb{R}^2	F			Sig. F
Model	R	\mathbb{R}^2	\mathbb{R}^2	Estimate	Change	Change	df1	df2	Change
Control	.356ª	.126	.121	2.928	.126	22.43	10	1549	.000
4	.547 ^b	.300	.294	2.624	.173	127.37	3	1546	.000

^a. Predictors: (Constant), sex, average health, good health, very good health, pride in work – more or less agree, pride in work – agree, pride in work – strongly agree, wealth – comfortable, wealth – struggle to get by, wealth – poor or destitute

b. Predictors: (Constant), sex, average health, good health, very good health, pride in work – more or less agree, pride in work – agree, pride in work – strongly agree, wealth – comfortable, wealth – struggle to get by, wealth – poor or destitute, total working hours, hours spent in school, parent relations

^c. Dependent variable: Self-efficacy

Appendix F – Coefficients^a of hierarchical multiple regression between the independent variables and self-efficacy after statistically controlling for sex, subjective health, pride in work, and subjective wealth

Model		Unstandardised Coefficients Std.		Std. Coeff.			95% CI	
		В	Error	Beta	t	Sig.	LL	UL
Control	(Constant)	29.63	.56		53.22	.000	28.54	30.72
	Sex	18	.15	03	-1.23	.221	48	.11
	Health ^b							
	Average	.85	.50	.09	1.67	.098	13	1.84
	Good	.46	.47	.07	.99	.323	45	1.37
	Very good	1.01	.47	.16	2.17	.030	.10	1.93
	Wealth ^c							
	Comfortable	65	.25	10	-2.65	.008	-1.13	17
	Struggle to get by	-1.44	.28	19	-5.20	.000	-1.98	89
	Poor or destitute	1.58	.37	13	-4.30	.000	-2.30	86
	Pride ^d							
	More or less	.48	.37	.04	1.30	.193	24	1.19
	Agree	.70	.28	.11	2.46	.014	.14	1.25
	Strongly agree	2.87	.32	.37	9.10	.000	2.25	3.49
4	(Constant)	18.74	.95		19.72	.000	18.88	20.61
	Sex	23	.14	04	-1.70	.089	49	.04
	Health ^b							
	Average	.88	.45	.09	1.96	.050	.00	1.73
	Good	.48	.42	.08	1.15	.249	34	1.30
	Very good	.84	.42	.13	2.01	.045	.02	1.66
	Wealth ^c							
	Comfortable	42	.22	07	-1.91	.057	85	.01
	Struggle to get by	-1.13	.25	15	-4.52	.000	-1.61	64
	Poor or destitute	61	.33	05	-1.83	.067	-1.27	.04
	Pride ^d							
	More or less	.39	.33	.04	1.19	.236	26	1.03
	Agree	.37	.26	.06	1.45	.146	13	.87
	Strongly agree	1.51	.30	.19	5.11	.000	.93	2.09
	Total working hours	13	.04	08	-3.43	.001	21	06
	Hours spent in school	23	.06	08	-3.55	.000	35	10
	Parent relations	.50	.03	.44	18.65	.000	.45	.55

^a. Dependent variable: Self-efficacy
^b. Reference is very poor or poor
^c. Reference is very rich or rich
^d. Reference is strongly disagree or disagree